
 

                         

 

 

 

                             

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

 

 

July 17, 2024 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

1



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
AGENDA JULY 17, 2024 

 
MEETING AGENDA – ADDITIONS/DELETIONS/CHANGES – Pages 3-5     
 

CONSENT AGENDA  
A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes June 19, 2024 – Pages 6-12 

B. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop summary minutes March 6, 2024 – Pages 13-21 

C. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting summary minutes February 21, 2024 – Pages 22-40 

D. Approval of the site plan for 506 Third Ave – new home – Pages 41-94 
 

FINANCE/BUDGET REPORT – Pages 95-110 
 

DEPARTMENT AND BOARD/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
A. Parks Board – Pages 111-112 
B. Public Works Department – Pages 113-114 
C. Building Department – Pages 115-125 
D. Code Enforcement – Pages 126-128 
E. Fire Department – Pages 129-32 
F. Police Department – Pages 133-134 
G. Town Clerk – Page 135 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/SPECIAL ORDERS 
A. Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds – Second reading – Pages 136-141 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Consideration of replacing all of the curbing on Riverside Dr as part of the repaving project – Pages 142-

240 
B. Discussion regarding failed Ordinance 2024-03 Camping Prohibited – Pages 241-243 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
A. Consideration to approve the Interlocal Agreement – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll – Pages 244-

249 
B. Resolution 2024-03 – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll Certification – Pages 250-260 
C. Consideration to endorse the HELPER Act – Pages 261-264 
D. Consideration to renew the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement – Pages 265-275 
E. Consideration on a speed camera system in the school zone and parking cameras in Town paid parking 

areas – Page 276 
F. Consideration to approve a proposal regarding the stormwater project at the end of the street on Third 

Ave – Pages 277-283 
G. Resolution 2024-04 Fee Schedule – Pages 284-291 
H. Resolution 2024-05 FDLE Grant – Page 292 

 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS – Page 293 
 

TASK LIST – Page 294-295 

2



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 
July 17, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
AGENDA 

 
 

The Town Commission will conduct a Regular Town Commission Meeting 
on Wednesday, July 17, 2024, in the Community Center 

to address the items below 
 
 

Commission Members: 
Mayor Alison Dennington 
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 
Commissioner Corey Runte 
Commissioner Marivi Walker 
Commissioner Adam Meyer 
 
Staff Members: 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 
 
Notice: Commission discussion and possible action may occur during any Commissioner Meeting. The following sections 
of the Agenda are always subject to such discussion and possible action without further motion by the Commission: 
Changes to the Agenda, Public Hearings, Unfinished Business, and New Business. 

The public is advised that members of the Town Commission may be in attendance and participate in proceedings of the 
board. Attorney General Opinions (AGO) AGO 91-95, AGO 98-14, AGO 2000-68. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal 
any decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to 
ensure such a record is made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town 
does not do so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special 
accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 
724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

3



1. Call to Order  
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes 
 

5. Consent Agenda 
A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes June 19, 2024 

B. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop summary minutes March 6, 2024 

C. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting summary minutes February 21, 2024 

D. Approval of the site plan for 506 Third Ave – new home 
 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards  
 

7. Finance/Budget Report 
 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports 
A. Parks Board 
B. Public Works Department 
C. Building Department 
D. Code Enforcement 
E. Fire Department 
F. Police Department 
G. Town Clerk 
 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) 
After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 
address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 
advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 
topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
 

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders 
A. Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds – Second reading  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN 
CODE OF ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODE; AMENDING SECTION 7A-57 RELATING TO 
UTILITY SHEDS AND SETBACK REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
11. Unfinished Business 

A. Consideration of replacing all of the curbing on Riverside Dr as part of the repaving project 
– Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

B. Discussion regarding failed Ordinance 2024-03 Camping Prohibited – Town Manager 
Elizabeth Mascaro 
 

4



12. New Business 
A. Consideration to approve the Interlocal Agreement – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll – 

Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 
B. Resolution 2024-03 – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll Certification 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH OF 
BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CERTIFYING THE ANNUAL 
STORMWATER UTILITY ASSESSMENT ROLL FOR THE TOWN OF 
MELBOURNE BEACH STORMWATER UTILITY BUDGET FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2024/2025; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

C. Consideration to endorse the HELPER Act – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
D. Consideration to renew the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement 
E. Consideration on a speed camera system in the school zone and parking cameras in Town 

paid parking areas – Police Chief Tim Zander 
F. Consideration to approve a proposal regarding the stormwater project at the end of the 

street on Third Ave – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
G. Resolution 2024-04 Fee Schedule 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN FEE SCHEDULE; 
AMENDING TOWN RESOLUTION 2022-05 TOWN FEE SCHEDULE; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

H. Resolution 2024-05 FDLE Grant 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING PARTICIPATION IN FDLE’S 
EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT (JAG) 
PROGRAM FOR PRISONER TRANSPORTATION; PROVIDING FOR 
AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
13. Administrative Reports  

A. Town Attorney 
B. Town Manager 

 
14. Commission Reports 

 

15. Task List 
 

16. Public Comment 
 

17. Adjournment 

5



1 | P a g e  
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 
June 19, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER - 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

ACTION MINUTES 
 

Commission Members: 
Mayor Alison Dennington 
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 
Commissioner Corey Runte 
Commissioner Marivi Walker 
Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 
Staff Members: 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 
 

1. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call 
 
Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 
 
Commission Members Present  Staff Members Present 
Mayor Alison Dennington   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Commissioner Corey Runte   Police Chief Tim Zander 
Commissioner Marivi Walker   Building Official Robert Bitgood 
Commissioner Adam Meyer   Fire Chief Gavin Brown 
      Public Works Director Tom Davis 
      Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 
      Town Clerk Amber Brown  
 

6



2 | P a g e  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 
Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes – 1:22 
 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro removed Unfinished Business Item B –  Consideration of 
replacing all of the curbing on Riverside Dr as part of the repaving project. 
 
Mayor Alison Dennington removed New Business Item D – Consideration of creating a 
municipal citizens academy to place it on the August 7, 2024 Town Commission Workshop. 

 
5. Consent Agenda – 6:35 

A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting action minutes May 15, 2024 

B. Approval on changing the Ryckman House Historical Preservation and Awareness Board 
meeting time to 4:00 p.m 

  
Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented; 
Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards  
A. Presentation by the Parks Board on Veterans Park, Bicentennial Park water feature, and 

playground equipment – 8:29 
 

Parks Board Chairperson Dawn Barlow presented community thoughts and feedback on a 
Hometown Heroes program, Veterans Park, Bicentennial Park water feature, and 
playground equipment.  

 
B. Presentation by the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Firefighters Association for the donation 

of a new marine rescue boat to the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department – 44:43 
 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about the Fire Departments Marine Rescue Division. 
 
Vice President of the MBVFA Travis Wood spoke about the new boat the association 
purchased and will be donating to the Town.  

 
C. Presentation by Town Attorney Ryan Knight on Robert’s Rules of Order – 49:47 

 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about Robert’s Rules of Order.  
 

7. Finance/Budget Report – 55:34 
 

Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve the finance and budget report as presented; 
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-1 with Mayor Alison Dennington dissenting 

 
8. Department and Board/Committee Reports – 57:37 

A. Public Works Department  

7



3 | P a g e  
 

B. Building Department 
C. Code Enforcement 
D. Fire Department 
E. Police Department 
F. Town Clerk 

 
9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) – 1:23:16 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 
address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 
advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any topic(s) 
related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
  

Jane Waters – 312 Sixth Ave – Commended the Mayor and asked about the stop signs, 
speed bumps, and poles at Ocean and Pine. 
Jan Futch Guilbeau – 806 Oak St – Spoke about a city tax on her water bill and being 
upset about a negative interaction she had with the Town Manager. 
Allen Waters – 312 Sixth Ave – Commended the Mayor for questioning the Police Chief. 
Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave – Spoke about residents should contact the Town 
Manager if they have a problem with utility taxes and that the Town should educate 
people rather than adding more ordinances. 
Bobby Williamson – 505 Riverside Cir – Spoke about not understanding why Circle 
Park's name was changed. He asked where the idea of a Veterans Park come from, and 
why spend more money when the current stuff is not taken care of?  
Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash – Spoke about DAR puts flags up at Ryckman House, so maybe 
that would be a place to do something for veterans. 

   
10. Public Hearings/Special Orders – 1:50:35 

A. Ordinance 2024-03 Camping Prohibited – Second reading 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CREATING 
CHAPTER 73-20, “CAMPING PROHIBITED,” IN THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR 
DEFINITIONS AND EXCEPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about one scribners error in subsection (c) where is says 
“the Town Manager may waive subsection…” it should say subsection (b) not (c).  
 

Roger Newell – 506 Colony St – Asked what the purpose of this is. 
Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave – Spoke about the Ordinance prohibits his grandkids from 
camping out in his backyard. Rewrite the Ordinance to allow that. 
Anna Butler – 312 Avenue A – Asked if this Ordinance covers people living in an RV. 
Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about adding an exemption to allow homeowners 
to camp in their own yard, and asked where is the line on the beach that is Town 
property.  

8



4 | P a g e  
 

Lynn Hartler – 325 Banyan Way – Spoke about one idea is to require the people 
camping to have full access to the common areas of the house.  

 
Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about including family friendly verbiage for an exception for 
the owner. 
 

Failed for a lack of motion 
 

B. Ordinance 2024-04 Prohibit Smoking – Second reading – 2:15:20 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CREATING 
CHAPTER 73, ARTICLE VI, “PARKS AND BEACHES” IN 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO PROHIBIT SMOKING 
IN TOWN PARKS AND PUBLIC BEACHES; PROVIDING 
FOR DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT 
AND PENALTIES; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SERVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave – Spoke about education instead of enforcement and 
include marijuana. 
Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Asked if this applies beyond the berm of the beach.  

 
Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve Ordinance 2024-04 Prohibiting Smoking on public 
property; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 5-0.  

 
11. Unfinished Business 

A. Consideration on the lifeguard contract for 2024-2025 – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
– 2:23:09 

 
Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak St – Spoke about lifeguards being super important, and it is 
unacceptable to not have any lifeguards from Paradise to Spessard Holland. 
Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave – Spoke about witnessing a drowning recently in the County 
area. His family assisted and it took 10 minutes for first responders to show up. 
Roger Newell – 506 Colony – Asked if it would be faster to call the Fire Department 
directly instead of calling 911. 
Brian Casazza – 2009 Oak – This is a mistake and irresponsible by the County Commission. 
A lot of the people at the park are county residents. This is a County problem. 

 
Failed for a lack of motion 
 

B. Consideration of replacing all of the curbing on Riverside Dr as part of the repaving project – 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – Removed from the agenda 

 
C. Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds – First reading – 2:38:31 

9



5 | P a g e  
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING SECTION 7A-57 RELATING TO 
UTILITY SHEDS AND SETBACK REQUIREMENTS; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Commissioner Corey Runte made a motion to approve Ordinance 2024-01 sheds first reading with the 
grandfathering clause; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0 with Mayor Alison 
Dennington obstaining from the vote.  
 

12. New Business 
A. Consideration of volunteer board member application from Tim Reed for the Board of 

Adjustment – Town Clerk Amber Brown – 2:43:14 
 
Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve the Board Member application for Tim Reed for the 
Board of Adjustment; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 5-0.  
 

B. Discussion on implementing a moratorium on traffic changes, and reviewing the policy for 
updates – Mayor Alison Dennington – 2:45:47 

 
Brief Recess 8:47 p.m. - 8:51 p.m.  
 
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie left at 8:49 p.m. 
 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 
 
Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 
Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Commissioner Corey Runte    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Commissioner Marivi Walker    Police Chief Tim Zander 
Commissioner Adam Meyer    Building Official Robert Bitgood 
       Public Works Director Tom Davis 
Commission Members Absent   Town Clerk Amber Brown  
Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

 
Jane Waters – 312 Sixth Ave – Spoke about not having an issue with the stop signs, but 
does not agree with the speed bumps and poles. The public should at least be informed. 
Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak – Spoke about being against removing traffic engineer from 
the code, the Town has a civil engineer that could be used for a traffic study, and 
residents were not being notified.  
Doug Hilmes – 443 Riverview lane – Spoke about there are safety issues cossing A1A, 
and all the other stop signs were not necessary. Does not support the moratorium 

10



6 | P a g e  
 

because then you cannot remove the next agenda item. There needs to be a process and 
it should go to the Commission.  

 
Failed for a lack of motion 
 

C. Discussion on Ocean Ave speed bumps and stop signs – Mayor Alison Dennington – 3:27:47 
 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak – Spoke about agreeing with the stop signs, and asked why 
no one has looked into why the stop signs are being run.  
Doug Hilmes – 443 Riverview lane – Spoke about a study should have been done. 
Agrees with having the stop signs, but does not think the speed bumps and poles are 
necessary. Do the right thing and figure out how to make the stop signs more visibile. 
Joe Pavlock – 501 Third Avenue – Spoke aobut being a retired traffic sergeant and has 
dealt with a lot of traffic issues. Requests two resident surveys. One about removing the 
speed bumps and poles. The second one for removing the stop signs with the condition 
of narrowing the lanes.  
Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about when the road is redone that is an 
opportunity to do something more effective.  
Gail Gowdy – 215 Ash – Spoke about being in favor of the stop signs, but not in favor of 
the speed bumps and poles. It’s an enforcement issue so address it that way. 

 
Mayor Alison Dennington made a motion to take a vote to take out the speed bumps; Commissioner 
Adam Meyer seconded; Motion carried 3-1 with Commissioner Corey Runte dissenting.  
 

D. Consideration of creating a municipal citizens academy – Mayor Alison Dennington – 
Removed from the agenda - 4:03:29  

 
E. Consideration on changing the rank of a Lieutenant to Deputy Chief within the Police 

Department- Police Chief Tim Zander – 4:03:56 
 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak St – Spoke about her company did this and it increased moral 
and how people live up to their expectations.   
Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about not being in favor of it, and this seems like a 
want not a need.  

 
Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve the consideration on changing the rank of Lieutenant 
to Deputy Chief within the Police Department as presented; Commissioner Marivi walker seconded; 
Motion carried 3-1 with Mayor Alison Dennington dissenting. 
 

F. Consideration of the Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement with the Florida Division of 
Emergency Management – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro – 4:21:04 

 
Commissioner Corey Runte moved to approve consideration of the Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement 
with FEMA; Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded; Motion carried 4-0.  
 

G. Consideration to renew the contract for James Moore – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
– 4:24:55 

11



7 | P a g e  
 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about the contract says if we need an audit then it 
will cost an additional $1,500.00. See if they will include one free audit if necessary. 

 
Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to renew the contract for James Moore; Commissioner  
Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 3-1 with Mayor Alison Dennington dissenting. 

  
13. Administrative Reports – 4:33:22 

A. Town Attorney 
B. Town Manager  

 
14. Commission Reports 

 
15. Task List 

 
Lifeguard Coverage – Closed 
Sixth Ave Board Ramp – Push to December 
 

16. Public Comment  
 

17. Adjournment 
 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to adjourn; Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded, Motion 
carried 4-0. 
 

Meeting adjourned at 10:44 p.m.   
 

 
 

 
 

12



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
TOWN COMMISSION WORKSHOP 

MARCH 6, 2024 MEETING 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
MINUTES 

 
Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 
 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call. 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Commissioner Adam Meyer    

         

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

13



2 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. She then had a Moment of Silence for a 

resident who had passed. 

 

4. New Business 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to switch the order of new business item A and item B, 

Commissioner Corey Runte seconded, all in favor  5-0 

 

A. Discuss traffic calming devices. 

 

B. Discuss the rules and procedures of the Parks Board. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about sections within the Town Code related to 

establishing advisory boards and also the Parks Board (passed in 1987) Article VIII section 

11-90 through 11-94. Does not feel the language and spirit of the code has been adhered 

to. Would like to utilize the Parks Board to vet any changes to the parks.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about staying on topic and discussing the Parks Board 

not the Public Works Department.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the agenda items that were tabled at the last 

Commission meeting and the agenda item did not include the Public Works Department.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how the Parks Board and Public Works Department 

are intrinsically combined.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte asked what the goal of this agenda item is. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Town has not been using the Parks Board as 

much as required. Would like to have parameters that any changes to the parks are first 

vetted by the Parks Board and then the Commission. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about being the administrator of the Town so the 

Public Works Department reports to her. The Town’s interpretation of this is that the 

Parks Board looks into enhancing the parks. She does not answer to the Parks Board. The 

Parks Board should not be involved in the daily operations of the parks.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about specifically wanting changes to the park to go 

through the Parks Board, not daily operations. Suggested creating a policy of what things 

need to go to the Parks Board to be vetted then submit a recommendation to the 

Commission.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about being okay with having a list of items that 

would and would not need to go to the Parks Board.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board spoke about how looking at the ordinance 

related to the Parks Board mainly breaks it up into two categories: events and park 

enhancements. There are a lot of entities that have events in the park. What else is going 

14



3 | Page 

 

on in the parks? There is an opportunity to use the Parks Board more, and increase 

transparency, public involvement, and allow the Parks Board to vet things. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about liking the idea of vision planning and having 

meetings around that. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about wanting to increase communication, a matrix of 

shared responsibility, because there is going to be crossover between all departments. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie said that there are things that need to be addressed, such as 

playground equipment and veterans memorial, that takes over a year to figure out. Wants 

to have the focus on big projects first and thinks the primary function should be focusing 

on the big stuff.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board, spoke about the Board being happy to run 

with things, but what are the other items that are in the works? Part of this is to 

understand what the priorities are and what is already being worked on. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how having Parks Board meetings would make the 

park information accessible to all residents, including newer ones.  The original creation of 

Public Works was passed in 1977, 2017 prior manager proposed getting rid of Public 

Works. 

 

Recess 6:43-6:48 (45:00) 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington stated she did not wish to get rid of Public Works and if there is 

ambiguity in the code to address it. Having more meetings amongst the volunteer groups 

would be cheaper and keep the main meetings and workshops shorter. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call. 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

 Commissioner Adam Meyer  

  

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about wanting a structured goal-oriented meeting. He 

had very concrete recommendations. He recommends having a responsibility matrix, 

delineate responsibility between Public Works and Parks and Rec, Parks Board sets up a 

resident prioritization workshop, list of prioritizations from the Board, monthly meeting 

with the Town Manager. 

 

Heidi Brewer, Parks Board Member, spoke about hearing a lot of unity in the discussion 

and is excited to be involved, and it seems people are on the same page.  

 

15



4 | Page 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to look into the items that the Town 

has been putting aside, does not think there is enough money put aside yet, but to start 

the process. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about an example, the Veteran’s Memorial Park 

because it was not budgeted, so there needs to be a vision, plan, a cost idea, and then 

there can be a budget. If there’s not enough money to do it in the first year, it can be 

done over two years. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about liking the responsibility matrix, and a big item to 

add is that physical changes to the parks go to the Parks Board, what events go to them, 

they have a budget, how should it be spent.  

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board, asked about setting up a meeting with the 

Town Manager and then taking the appropriate steps.  

 

Haley Conrad, Parks Board Member, there is a missing piece to this, how does the Parks 

Board find out about things they should be doing? When the Commission says take an 

item and run with it, what does that mean? What if someone outside of the Parks Board 

has an idea, does that go to the Parks Board? This communication was the goal of this 

meeting.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Parks Board coming up with a vision 

and plan then bringing it to the Town Manager to go over the details, then it gets 

presented to the Commission. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how no matter where the idea comes from, it 

should be vetted by the Parks Board. When the Parks Board makes recommendations 

then they should have descriptive minutes to provide to the Commission, or if someone 

can attend the meeting do that. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about how the Parks Board wants to be involved and 

that is a good problem to have. The Town Manager needs to be the point person for both 

the Parks Board and the Town Commission.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the responsibility matrix to clarify who has what 

responsibilities, but must include that changes to parks go to Parks Board, and clarifies 

which events/budget concerns go to the Parks Board. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the mention of the crossovers and that 

they’re considered maintenance. As far as the long-standing events, they should not need 

to ask the Parks Board, but need to be able to coordinate efforts and have respect for all 

of the events. 

 

Julie Samuels, Parks Board Member, spoke about how the special event application 

caused hiccups, it needs to be the same for everyone. There is a signature spot on the 

special event application, but the Parks Board does not receive them. If an event is large 

16



5 | Page 

 

enough to have a banner then it should go to the Parks Board. People ask her all the time 

when an event is and she has to ask town staff.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how the size of the event determines the 

added needs such as porta potties and police. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said that long standing events should not need to be reviewed 

in a Commission meeting, but they all should be treated the same way.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker said that if there is a signature spot for the Parks Board then 

it should either be filled out or removed from the form.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington suggested that the Town Manager create a policy that will 

include a list of events already established and what events will not need to come to the 

Commission for approval. They do require signatures from the various Boards so they are 

aware that the events are happening.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how a shared calendar that all the Boards have 

access to should be sufficient.  

 

Haley Conrad, Parks Board Member, spoke about quality control and how it is not a bad 

idea to have another entity look at the packet to acknowledge when an event is. If the 

Parks Board signature is removed, then the ordinance needs to be changed because it 

says the Parks Board will review special events. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how it is an option to contact the Town on a 

monthly basis to ask if there are any new special event applications. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown clarified the packets are not online, because the Town 

Commission did not want additional special events. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about from the Town’s standpoint the long-

standing Town events have not been considered special events.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said it was important to define the difference between Town 

events and special events. 

 

C. Discuss traffic calming devices (1:33:55) 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how there have been changes since the 

removal of stop signs. The entire Town needs traffic calming. The paving and curbing is 

going to be happening and that project needs to include traffic calming.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about disallowing the discussion of this, but it is a 

workshop not an official meeting, so she called for a recess before determining if this 

topic should be discussed. 

 

Recess 7:46 pm to 7:54 pm (1:43:42) 

17



6 | Page 

 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington     Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte    Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Commissioner Marivi Walker    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

 Commissioner Adam Meyer  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to hear feedback from the residents, 

then discuss doing a professional study. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting to listen to the residents first.  

 

Kate Wilborn – 502 Second 

 

Kate Wilborn spoke about how Riverside Drive is a gift to everyone. She is so glad the stop 

signs were taken down so you don’t have to worry about hitting a bumper, the speed 

bumps are really hard on cars, when people feel punished they get disgruntled.  

 

Aaron Anderson – 901 Riverside Drive 

 

Aaron Anderson spoke about being in favor of slowing the traffic on Riverside. Anyone who 

thinks there is not a problem has their head in the sand. Stop signs were not necessarily 

the right solution. Respects his neighbors and anything that causes noise is not ideal, but 

something needs to be done or someone will get hurt. 

 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about agreeing with the holistic way of traffic calming for the entire 

town as noticed from the 2 traffic crashes this week. Turn the crosswalk at Ocean and Pine 

into a school zone to lower the speed limit to 15 mph. Find creative ways to accomplish 

slowing traffic and beautify the Town at the same time. Licensed professional civil 

engineer to do a study. Another idea is to lower the speed limit on Riverside Drive.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting to wait to see what the options are and 

hire someone for traffic consulting. 

   

Dawn Barlow – 1710 Pine St 

 

Dawn Barlow spoke about the new installation of speed limit sign on A1A , was wondering 

what has the effect of that been since installation. She looks at that as a calming device, 

and would be interested in comparing that to the more holistic approach. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte said it is too early for data.  

 

18



7 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington reiterated needing to let all public comments be made first. 

 

Todd Albert – 1710 Pine St 

 

Todd Albert spoke about in other communities, speed bumps do not work. What does work 

is a police car being at the intersection. When he first moved here he was told Melbourne 

Beach was a speed trap, but we have gotten away from that. Indialantic has a good idea 

when you come down Riverside Drive traffic is slowed down from 35 to 25. Melbourne 

Beach should slow it down from 25 to 20. The most dangerous point on Riverside Drive is 

the corner at Ocean and Riverside. He wants to see Melbourne Beach become a speed trap 

again. Another idea is to have Pine a one-way and Orange a one-way and Avenue A and 

Avenue B. Everyone will protest, but it could help.  

 

Rebecca Stevens – 610 Atlantic St 

 

Rebecca Stevens acknowledges being conscious of slowing down at points where there is a 

police officer or the signs that take pictures of license plates. She may not know if that 

information is going anywhere but still makes her slow down. She believes those signs 

might be something to think about for the Town. 

 

Julie Samuels –  2320 South River Road 

 

Julie Samuels spoke about how she used to live on Orange and she would protest if it was 

a one way street. The quickest cheapest way to slow people down is to write tickets.  

 

Aaron Anderson – 901 Riverside Dr 

 

Aaron Anderson spoke about how he emailed the police chief, asked for a public records 

request for 12 months, June ‘22-June ’23, there were only 7 tickets written on Riverside 

Drive in that period. 

 

Haley Conrad – 2011 Oak 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about she would protest one way streets as well because it would add 

more traffic to the streets because you would have to go one direction in order to go the 

other direction. Is there a way to make money on tickets, can you raise the cost of tickets, 

can you always send the new officer to attend? 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about each Commissioner getting 5 minutes to speak. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about being concerned about blinking lights in 

people’s houses, liking the idea of flower beds to beautify and slow down traffic. She says 

you cannot have ticket quotas, it’s against the law, believes slowing the speed won’t be 

effective, not sure about a one way lane. She does not think we need to issue warnings, 

just issue the ticket no matter the speed, and is concerned about the number of police 

officers. 

 

19



8 | Page 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the cost of the speed sign was in the budget. We 

need an expert so perhaps that could be put on the next agenda. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how it bothers her that there is not a police 

presence at the last several meetings, it is important for the police the Town does have to 

actually write tickets. She spoke about how some streets do not have any speed limit sign 

on them, what streets are those and do we need to have at least one sign on each street? 

The red brick crosswalks are not visible, make it like a regular more visible crosswalk. 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about Bowman and BSE Engineering, the speed humps 

at Ocean and Pine work, that is a big intersection for kids going to school. Regarding the 

police chief not being here, the Town is in the process of hiring a police chief. The Town 

needs to have a traffic study done by a licensed traffic engineer, safety for the residents is 

the number one priority. Riverside Drive and Oak St are not safe.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about agreeing with getting a traffic engineer to get a 

study done, have a public meeting where everyone can hear ideas and no one is 

surprised. He is excited to meet with the possible new police chief tomorrow to ask 

questions about writing tickets and speeding.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said to bring that forward as an agenda item.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the police chief cannot be hired tomorrow because 

things still need to be done such as a background check. 

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about there is usually more than one solution or a combination of 

solutions. Agrees with it needing to be presented to the public prior to the Commission 

voting on it. If you can get general buy in from the public it would be very important. You 

will never please everyone, and at some point the Commission will have to make a 

decision. Hopefully if it is at least presented to the public and they are allowed to comment 

then hopefully it will alleviate some of the issue. When you lose public trust, it is really 

hard to get it back. The whole theme of tonight’s meeting is communication which is so 

important.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker asked if no one likes any of the presented solutions then 

what.  

 

Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about no one likes change, but at some point you have 

to put resident safety first.  

 

Todd Albert - 1710 Pine St 

 

Todd Albert spoke about if no one can agree at least get a professional’s input then make 

an educated decision. Get the reputation of being a speed trap back.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington commented that that can be implemented right away. 

20



9 | Page 

 

5. Public Comments 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any 

topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

 

6. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Corey Runte moved to adjourn; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 

5-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:43 pm.     

     

Transcribed by Rachel Pembrook 

   

       

            

       ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________  

Alison Dennington, Mayor     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

21



1 | Page 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 
REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

February 21, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER - 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

MINUTES 

 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Alison Dennington 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte   

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

Commissioner Adam Meyer 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present  Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 

Commissioner Adam Meyer   Building Official Robert Bitgood 

      Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

Commission Members Absent  Public Works Director Tom Davis  

Commissioner Corey Runte   Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

22



2 | Page 

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4. Meeting Agenda – Additions/Deletions/Changes 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about additional documents that were provided today for 

items that are on the agenda.     

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to accept the meeting agenda as posted with the additions; 

Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0 

 

5. Consent Agenda    

  

A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting minutes January 17, 2024 

B. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop minutes January 16, 2024 

C. Approval of the Town Commission Workshop minutes January 3, 2024 

D. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting minutes December 20, 2023  

E. Consideration to change the meeting date and time for the History Center Board 

F. Reappointment of Board Members 

● Reappointment of members of the Board of Adjustment 

1. Member Robert Schaefer 

2. Member Xochitl Ross 

● Reappointment of members of the Environmental Advisory Board 

1. Member Curtis Byrd  

2. Member Crystal Cain 

● Reappointment of members of the Planning and Zoning Board 

1. Member David Campbell 

2. Member April Evans 

3. Member Dan Harper 

4. Member Gabor Kishegyi 

   

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to approve the consent agenda which has the minutes for 

January 17, 2024, January 16th and 3rd, the minutes for December 20, 2023, the History Board change 

of meeting date, the reappointment of Board Members for the Board of Adjustment, Environmental 

Advisory Board, and also the Planning and Zoning Board; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; 

Motion carried 4-0 

 

6. Proclamations/Presentations/Awards 

 

7. Finance/Budget Report 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about the deficiencies from the audit last year.  

 

Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr spoke about the 2 deficiencies are a typing error in a GL line 

and an issue when COVID money came in and when it needed to be entered in. 

 

23



3 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked about how money is reconciled such as the money that was 

allocated for the skate park. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about money will be reconciled by a resolution, and 

the Commission determines where the money goes. The way it is worded using deficiencies 

makes it sound bad, but they are not. They were addressed last May, and all respondents must 

respond and provide comments to the State. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about any adjustments are not great and means the original 

statements were not being prepared correctly.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about there being adjustments every year, and a lot 

of governments have them. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about not implying that egregious mistakes were made. 

Ask the auditors for their opinion. When the auditors presented last year it did not seem like a 

big deal. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the auditors saying adjustments are common with 

smaller municipalities, and that it went better than previous years. She asked various 

questions about line items in the budget.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer had a question about FEMA money, $10,000 had been received. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington questioned what the $500 received was for.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said it was essentially for the disposal of small assets, 

specifically a police vehicle that’s beyond repair, that they sold. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington addressed questions she had about the budget book, and how she 

will get more familiar with it. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie made a motion to accept the budget report as presented; Commissioner 

Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

8. Department and Board/Committee Reports 

 

A. Parks Board 

 

Dawn Barlow, Chairperson of the Parks Board, introduced members Haley Conrad, Julie 

Samuels, Rebecca Stevens, and Sabrina Cornelius. A few members that are not present 

include Danika Feodoroff Warren and Lisa Kishegyi. The Board looked into what the Town 

Code says related to the Parks Board which is to look into park improvements and make 

suggestions to the Town Manager and review special events. Neither has been done in a 

few years. Spoke about the Parks Board discussing a veteran’s park and upgrades to 

Ryckman Park. Spring Fest/Kids Business Fair is March 2nd. 

 

24



4 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the Code related to the Parks Board, thinks any 

changes to the parks should be vetted by the Parks Board first then go to the Commission 

for approval.  

 

B. Public Works Department 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about having a meeting between Public Works, Building 

Official, Town Manager, and herself with FDOT about the A1A road work. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about a resident who asked her about all of the leaves 

that are falling from the oak trees. Add something to the newsletter about how bad leaves 

are for the storm drains. 

 

Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about the ongoing work at the Fifth Ave beach 

access, they uncovered concrete steps under the crossover, will put together something 

educational about leaves in the storm drains. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked various questions about the public works department 

report. 

 

C. Building Department 

 

No additions 

 

D. Code Enforcement 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked for details on the vacation rental violations.  

 

E. Fire Department 

 

No additions 

 

F. Police Department 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked questions about the status of the Police Chief and spoke 

about the hiring process for the Police Chief. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Police Chief working as a contract 

employee.  

 

G. Town Clerk 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked various questions about the Town Clerk Report. 

 

9. Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items) 

 

25



5 | Page 

 

After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 

address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 

advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any topic(s) 

related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   

 

Frank Thomas – 606 Atlantic St 

 

Frank Thomas spoke about living in the Town of Melbourne Beach since 1961. He asked if 

anyone on the Parks Board does not live in the Town of Melbourne Beach. Who is the sponsor 

of the event this Saturday and where the money is going. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about the event is hosted by the Environmental Advisory 

Board and there is no money as the event is for education and information. 

 

Joe Pavlock - 501 Third Ave  

 

Joe Pavlock asked what the results of the stop sign survey was, asked about the speed humps 

at Ocean and Pine as he thought they were temporary, when are we getting the turn arrow at 

the stop light, why not have an acting Police Chief rather than keep the Police Chief on as a 

contractor to save money, and asked about the audiovisual equipment for the Community 

Center. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the stop sign survey is an agenda item, the speed 

bumps are permanent, the turn arrow was part of the discussion the Town had with FDOT 

yesterday and it is in the works, and the contract for the audiovisual equipment was already 

approved, the brick crosswalks are pretty but not as visible. 

 

 Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave 

 

Dan Brunger spoke about appreciating the minutes being posted online, it is hard to hear some 

people please get closer to the mic, what is the status of the new fire truck, the 404 Sixth Ave 

storm drain needs maintenance, and the camera at the Sixth Ave boat ramp is missing.  

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about how the new fire truck has been ordered, but the build 

time is about 3 years, will receive it in the middle of 2025. The current first-run truck is turning 

20 this year which is the max recommended length from NFPA. 

 

Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about how the cameras have made a difference in 

lowering vandalism, wants to look into upgrading the quality of the cameras in the future. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked various questions about the Town cameras and storm drains.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about the original discussion about the cameras was for 

security in the parks and parking areas.  

 

Mike Minick– 1700 Atlantic St 

 

26



6 | Page 

 

Mike Minick spoke about one year ago, a loose dog attacked his dog, he brought his dog to the 

vet and they gave the dog a 50/50 chance. He asked the police to take a non-emergency 

information report and the Police Chief said no. Six weeks ago there was another dog loose. 

Late at night animal control will not take a report and neither will our police department, so 

what can be done. He has run into loose dogs over 11 times so now he carries pepper spray. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about residents need to call 911 and they will 

dispatch police and they will take a report. 

 

10. Public Hearings/Special Orders 

 

11. Unfinished Business 

 

12. New Business 

 

A. Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about consideration of curbing repair/replacement 

on Riverside Dr. 

 

Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about the different sections of curbing along 

Riverside Drive that he categorized as total failure or deterioration/cracking.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked various questions about the project and the contracts, and 

spoke about needing more details before she can make a decision.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the details of the project and compared the 

price to the project on Orange and the project on Cherry. Ribbon curbing is not feasible on 

Riverside, so the Commission has to decide if they want to redo the entire curbing or just 

certain sections of it. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker asked the Town Attorney Ryan Knight if this piggyback 

contract is a good deal. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about almost always piggybacking off a contract will 

have a better price.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer asked if the cost ($211,000) is reasonable and do we usually 

put that much towards curbing. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the cost being very reasonable per square 

linear foot, especially for that amount of road being done. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if the Commission needs to have a special meeting to get 

this done in a timely manner, and when do we need to notify the paving company, how 

much money is put aside for the project, and if that will be enough money. 

 

Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about it will take at least 5 weeks after the contract 

is done to get anyone onsite.  

27



7 | Page 

 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about there being over one million dollars set 

aside, and this project is not related to stormwater and will not be using any stormwater 

money. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer asked if we can get the contract with all of the numbers 

including the paving and curbing.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to table the discussion on paving and concrete curbing to 

a special meeting; Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

B. Consideration of the proposal to establish a volunteer Beach Ambassador program within 

the Town of Melbourne Beach – Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about trying to get most of the cost covered by Drown Zero 

who has offered to donate money and possibly an atv/utv. The ongoing costs would be 

minimal such as fuel and uniforms. The first step would be to create the policies and 

procedures and the training program then gauge the public’s interest since this would be a 

volunteer program.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the possibility of getting grant money. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if this would be in addition to the lifeguards. 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about the ambassadors would be in addition to lifeguards, 

they would not be first responders; they would be there for educating the public to help 

prevent any issues. They would not be enforcing anything, but rather educating the public 

on items such as general wildlife, local codes and rules, rip current awareness, etc.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about people might pay to take the trainings. 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about most of the trainings having very little cost because a 

lot of the trainings are done in house by volunteers of the fire department. He’s hoping to 

start the program with donations and then the Town can cover the recurring cost. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about liking the program, but what would the liability be 

on the Town for a resident driving a Town provided atv/utv. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how all of the volunteers would need to sign 

waivers. 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about there being a certification process and atv/utv driver 

training that everyone would need to go through. The Fire Department has a utv that the 

volunteers drive. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about whether all of the fire department volunteers 

should have to sign a waiver as well.  

28



8 | Page 

 

 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown spoke about how the fire department volunteers are trained 

members of the Town just like a town employee. Volunteerism in general is in significant 

decline. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to proceed with looking into the Beach Ambassador 

Program; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

C.   Consideration of the proposal to add a Spanish Together Class – Parks Board 

 

Parks Board Chairperson Dawn Barlow spoke about how someone requested the Parks 

Board look into having a Spanish class. This is a proposal for a six week pilot program to see 

how the program does.  

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker asked about the details of the My Musical Tree class. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the My Musical Tree is now funded through 

the parking money and costs $50.00 per session. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about not being in favor of having a class in doors because 

of the issues that have happened in the Community Center including mold remediation 

costing roughly $4,000.00 from leaving the doors open. Also, having new audio visual 

equipment in the building. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about being in favor of it since a Parks Board member 

will be present. He would be interested in the data of how many people are Melbourne 

Beach residents.  

 

Parks Board Chairperson Dawn Barlow spoke about it being possible to do it outside, but 

the instructor would prefer to do it inside.   

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about it being concerning having that many kids in one 

room, also if it’s free to everyone they might not be as invested in learning, can we require 

people to make a donation to make sure they are invested in learning. Likes the idea in 

theory, but would like more information such as would they be signing a waiver.  

 

Parks Board Chairperson Dawn Barlow asked if the Commission would be more 

comfortable if the founder was amenable to holding it outdoors. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about wanting a waiver for the children and adults, have a 

set of rules, and age limits. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about how there would be concerns with having kids in 

an area that is not intended for kids. Kids might want to go up and down the stairs or play 

with the flag or fire extinguisher. 

Parks Board Chairperson Dawn Barlow proposed to make it an outdoor only activity. 

 

29



9 | Page 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to approve the six week provided it is outside; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

 Julie Samuel - 2320 S River Road 

 

Julie Samuel spoke about attending the class. The teacher is used to handling 30 kids and 

runs it as an interactive class. Believes these opportunities are possible, and wants to give 

kids in the community these opportunities. Suggests using parking money instead of being 

funded by taxpayers. 

 

 Brian Casazza - 2009 Oak St 

 

Brian Cassaza spoke about how any educational opportunity is very important and it should 

not be limited to a certain age. Everyone should have the opportunity. 

 

The Commission agreed this should be open to any age. 

 

 Jan Futch - 806 Oak St 

  

Jan Futch asked about having it at the library because it has an environment set up for that.  

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about choosing Spanish because there was interest in it, it’s a good 

starter language. She also said do not assume children are going to destroy everything, 

parents will bring their kids to the Spanish class if they believe they can handle it.   

 

AnneMarie McBride - 310 Second Ave 

 

AnneMarie McBride spoke about the Town getting with the library to see if they would pay 

and host it.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how we have this facility that is for the community, 

and all of the concerns about this building are valid, asked the Parks Board to come up with 

a list of programs they would like to implement and come up with a checklist of what 

needs to be done after. 

 

Break at 8:46 pm (2:44:00) 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Adam Meyer   Public Works Director Tom Davis 

       Town Clerk Amber Brown 

30



10 | Page 

 

Commission Members Absent     

Commissioner Corey Runte    

 

C. Discussion on Town Commission term lengths related to off-year/odd-year elections  – 

Town Clerk Amber Brown. 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about the possibility of even-year elections. Odd-year 

elections cost approximately $10,000, and even-year elections cost roughly $400-$200. 

Voter turnout for odd-year elections is usually around 20%, minus last year which was 51%. 

Even-year elections have 72-86% voter turnout. Spoke about 2 options. Option 1 (used in 

Cocoa Beach) had the referendum take effect immediately. Option 2 (used in IHB) switched 

but slowly took effect, had odd-year elections until everyone switched to 4-year terms. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said she is skeptical and needs to get more information. Also 

discussed that there are some costs that are worth the money to the town and some costs 

that are not. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie says there would need to be a referendum and then a vote in 

order to pass. Has discussion with Mayor Alison Dennington as to whether or not this 

should be done. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington made a motion to table the item to get more information; Commissioner 

Adam Meyer seconded;  

 

Frank Lagrassa – 412 First Ave 

 

Frank Lagrassa spoke about elections bringing accountability to a system, to government, 

fraught with potential for abuse.  

 

Mark Formica  – 215 Birch Ave 

 

Mark Formica spoke about having a system for staggering elections and there being some 

type of checks and balances and cost containment.  

 

Sue Martin – 2202 Rosewood Drive 

 

Sue Martin suggested waiting until everyone terms out. 

 

Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave 

 

Steve Walters spoke about this already going to the voters and the voters overwhelmingly 

wanted to keep term limits. This has been decided by the residents before, why do it again.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington withdrew her motion to table it 

 

Adam Meyer withdrew his second 

 

31



11 | Page 

 

Fails for lack of motion 

 

D. Consideration of Resolution 2024-01 – Providing for access to public records by remote 

electronic means and approving the Town’s record (master) copy documents on electronic 

media – Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR ACCESS TO 

PUBLIC RECORDS BY REMOTE ELECTRONIC MEANS IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 119, 

FLORIDA STATUTES; FURTHER APPROVING THE KEEPING AND 

MAINTAINING OF THE TOWN’S RECORD (MASTER) COPY 

DOCUMENTS ON ELECTRONIC MEDIA, NAMELY THE TOWN’S 

LASERFICHE IMAGING SYSTEM, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

REQUIREMENTS OF F.A.C RULE 1B-26.003; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about missing information and not being 

comfortable with it. It needs to include the MCCi contract, the Admin Rule, and not 

destroying records until there is an inventory and a request to destroy records.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer asked Town Attorney Ryan Knight how other towns 

have dealt with the issue of hard copies after making them digital to which he said 

each town deals with it differently, but most are starting to get away from keeping 

hard copies. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked Town Clerk Amber Brown to start putting the 

documents online, but not to make them the master copy yet. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to table this to have it rewritten to include a method to 

deal with the hard copies; Mayor Alison Dennington seconded; Motion carried 3-1 with Commissioner 

Marivi Walker dissenting  

 

Mark Formica – 215 Birch Ave 

 

Mark Formica spoke about dealing with this in his company, you will have to go with cloud 

based or a vault, verify the contract has the safety precautions to protect the documents. 

 

E. Consideration of changing the date for the Regular Town Commission Meetings in March, 

April, and May – Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about not having a problem with it, but wished 

Commissioner Corey Runte was here to verify everyone can attend. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the meeting dates being in the Charter, so you need 

to work your schedule around the meetings. If we have a quorum which is three we 

shouldn’t change the dates.  

32



12 | Page 

 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker removed the item from the agenda. 

 

F. Discussion on ordinance language changes related to sheds – Building Official Robert 

Bitgood 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about residents who have pulled a shed permit in 

the past couple of years have mentioned not building a new larger home or doing an 

addition it would be nice to be able to have a larger shed. The main changes are increased 

size to 160 square feet. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about having a potential conflict on this topic so she will 

not be voting on this. The Town does not have a zoning placement permit. It should go 

back to Planning and Zoning to allow them to work together with the Building Official. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about being comfortable with the 160 square foot size 

and to allow the shed anywhere as long as the six foot fence can be built around it. Agrees 

it should go back to Planning and Zoning with the changes. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked if the biggest issue Planning and Zoning had was allowing 

the shed up to the front building line rather than the rear building line, asked about the 

details of the height restriction, electric and water hook up. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about how that was one of the big issues. You could 

put a large RV or boat in the same area that this proposal is for. Current code says you can 

have 1 shed per 10,000 square feet of property. The new proposal would be limited to one 

shed per address. The shed can have electric, but it cannot have a water hook up. Proposes 

based on the changes that have been suggested, taking it back to Planning and Zoning to 

see what they say. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to approve the wording on page 169 to go back to P&Z; 

Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 3-0 with Mayor Alison Dennington abstaining 

from the vote due to a conflict. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington was advised to fill out a Form 8b.  

 

Dan Brunger – 400 Sixth Ave 

 

Dan Brunger brought up past permits, asked about setbacks and existing sheds, asked 

about the amount of sheds you can have, spoke about property rights, ex post facto and 

due process. Do we have a town with town ordinances or an HOA? Do we have a town that 

we live in, or is it just to look at? 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said there are no setbacks for sheds. 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked how to document what is already existing, also asked if 

Dan Brunger was in favor of the change and he said no. 

 

33



13 | Page 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood also said if someone already has multiple sheds they would 

be grandfathered in. 

 

G. Consideration of pricing contract renewal with Waste Pro – Town Manager Elizabeth 

Mascaro 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about how the current Waste Pro contract is 

expiring. The current cost is $22.37 and the new proposed cost is $28.90 effective 

5/1/2024. It will be adjusted in years 2-7 where price would be $2.95 instead of $5.64. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer asked if the $2.95 would be added on top of the cost every 

year or if it would be one time. There was agreement that the wording was confusing. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to go back to Waste Pro to get yearly costs; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded; Motion carried 4-0 

 

Break 10:23-10:28 (4:15:05) 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present   Staff Members Present 

Mayor Alison Dennington    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Adam Meyer   Town Clerk Amber Brown 

       

Commission Members Absent    

Commissioner Corey Runte    

 

 Steve Walters – 416 Sixth Ave 

 

Steve Walters spoke about how this needs to go out to bid. It makes sense to go out to bid 

since it has been 14 years.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked questions about going out to bid.  

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to put it out to RFP for the results in March; Vice Mayor 

Sherri Quarrie seconded, Motion carried 4-0  

 

H. Discussion on second kitchens, repeal ordinance 2023-02 and working on a stricter, 

narrowly tailored alternative – Mayor Alison Dennington 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how this ordinance was not properly noticed.  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight speaks about how there is no perfect ordinance when it comes 

to second kitchens because there is no definition to determine what a kitchen is. 

 

34



14 | Page 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington made a motion to direct the town attorney to prepare a repeal ordinance 

to repeal the second kitchen ordinance and to tighten the language up including the requirement for 

a development order as part of the permitting process 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington withdrew her motion 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer said he had too many questions, asked about the options 

moving forward with a repeal. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to send it back to the town attorney to review the 

wording and bring in comments to the next meeting; Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded; 

 

Mark Formica – 215 Birch Ave  

 

Mark spoke about being against second kitchens, there are people that will take advantage 

of it. By the time you go through the procedure, weeks are going to go by. Is the 

moratorium sufficient to stop anything additional? 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about receiving a permit for a second kitchen that he 

did turn down because of the moratorium and they redid it. 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about by the time it went through the courts then the 

issue would most likely be a moot point.  

 

 Frank Lagrassa – 412 First Ave 

 

Frank Lagrassa spoke about agreeing with what Mark said. What does the Town Attorney 

mean when he said there isn’t a perfect ordinance for this? What is the benefit of this 

ordinance and where did it originate? Believes this will ruin the neighborhoods. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said a resident came to a Planning and Zoning meeting 

and requested it.  

 

 Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave 

 

Tim Reed spoke about being against the second kitchen ordinance and does not believe in 

the reason for multigenerational living. A repeal is better than rewording. There are not a 

ton of residents wanting to do it. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about emails between the Town Planner, Town Manager, 

and Commissioner Corey Runte around the time of the ordinance where the Town Planner 

said this is allowing an accessory living structure. February 2, 2023 from Corey to Cliff, 

March 7, 2023 from Corey to several people. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about if everything the Mayor is saying the Town 

Planner said is true, then she would want to repeal it as well. 

 

35



15 | Page 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight believes an appeal would be sufficient. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie asked about the new process implemented, every single thing 

was not going to go to Planning and Zoning, how would this be affected by that process? 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood said this would be an exception. It would be handled at the 

building department level. If an architect draws a house and says it’s only a wet bar, no one 

legally could say to that architect that it is a kitchen, and the plan would have to be 

approved as a wet bar. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to send it back to the attorney to look at the language; 

Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded; 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington removed the motion 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker made a motion to draft a repeal for the ordinance; Commissioner Adam 

Meyer seconded; Motion passed 4-0 

 

Frank Lagrassa – 412 First Ave 

 

Frank Lagrassa wanted to say thank you. 

 

I. Discussion on Town Charter and Code provisions related to traffic changes and changes to 

the parks and possible conflicting policies and procedures – Mayor Alison Dennington 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about this being related to following the code related to 

the Parks Board, and not knowing what our policies and procedures are related to traffic 

control, if there are none then create them. Pushed this to a workshop. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the code being very clear on park changes. The 

Commission has the right to make changes to the parks without the Parks Board approval.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about how there have been things that the Commission 

has said they were not aware of, so there are items that the Parks Board and the 

Commission are not involved in or aware of. It seems the Town staff is making decisions 

without the Parks Board or Commission knowing about it. Sometimes it is better to slow 

things down and have them vetted.  

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about the public works department bringing things to the 

Commission for approval. It is not valid to say the Town staff does not bring things to the 

Commission. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about some changes that have been made that people are 

more sensitive to. Just because we can make changes doesn’t mean we can’t slow things 

down and allow the Parks Board to vet it then bring it to the Commission. She does not 

believe the removal of the semicircle was vetted by the Commission.  

 

36



16 | Page 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about how the removal of the semicircle is because 

we are not up to ADA code because the handicap parking is in the front and the ramp is in 

the rear. The plan is to put a ramp and the handicap parking right out front of the 

Community Center. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about how the Parks Board is full of resident volunteers, 

and it is important to make it clear as to what they get to have a say in. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer made a motion to discuss the rules and procedures of the Parks Board at 

a Workshop; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad, member of the Parks Board, spoke about meeting regularly since 2021. They 

have held many fantastic activities in the Park. Nothing is brought to the Parks Board. What 

is the role of the Parks Board? The Parks Board meets prior to the Commission meeting. In 

the State of Florida to use the word engineer you must be certified. Does not think the goal 

is to require that all items go to the Parks Board, but rather use them as a resource to assist 

you. There clearly is ambiguity in the ordinance. 

 

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about in 2020 there was a memo stating the Parks Board 

has not met in a year. Said the role of the Parks Board is to look at the agendas, and see 

what’s on there that would need the Commission’s input. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about just because we don’t have to do something doesn’t 

mean we shouldn’t. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the interpretation of the Code is not that 

things need to be brought to the Parks Board, but rather the Parks Board can bring items 

they would like to incorporate into the Parks.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington says the Parks Board was founded in 1987, it’s a Parks Board not 

an Event Board. Suggests coming up with guidelines at the workshop, for example major 

things will be run by the Parks Board, minor things will not be. She feels it is important to 

have a conversation about the way to go about this for clarity. 

 

Gabor Kishegyi – 221 Surf Rd 

 

Gabor Kishegyi spoke about how every decision should be sent to the respective Board. 

 

J. Discussion on Riverside Drive traffic control concerns – Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie 

  

Vice Mayor Sherri Quarrie spoke about how this agenda item is to present the data that 

was part of the discussion on the stop signs. If the stop signs are removed what is the 

liability to the Town if something happens?  

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about there not being much if any liability. 

37



17 | Page 

 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer spoke about the speed trailer data after the stop signs were 

installed the speed trailer was 50 feet after the stop signs, so it was almost impossible to 

speed unless you don’t stop at the stop sign. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about needing data that is not skewed. Tickets work, have 

the police out there writing tickets. She has received emails from people that like the stop 

signs or about speeding on Riverside. Her suggestion would be to have the police out there 

writing tickets. Landscaping trucks should not be parked on Riverside, causes issues with 

passing. 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about how there are people that pass on Riverside. The 

Town 100% needs to figure out traffic calming devices for the Town. Trucks don’t have a 

good way to turn around. 

 

K. Discussion on the Riverside Drive stop sign survey – Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about the results of the stop sign survey. Keep the stop 

signs, 239 votes in favor, 20.38%. Remove the stop signs, 787 votes, 67.09%. Keep one, 

remove one, 56 votes, 4.77%. No opinion, 9 votes, .77%. Inconclusive, 3 votes, so not even 

1%. Invalid/not Melbourne Beach Proper/name or address missing, 79 votes, 6.73%. Total 

of 1173 responses. Area specific and town wide, majority said to remove the stop signs.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington made a motion to remove both stop signs; Commissioner Adam Meyer                    

seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

Brian Casazza - 2009 Oak St 

 

Brian Cassazza spoke about there was no data provided with the survey. There is a lack of 

communication. There was no information to the residents to make an educated decision. 

The Town needs to do a better job.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington said she was going to follow up with the manager and did not so 

she apologizes. Suggests going forward to have information readily available for the 

residents the next time a survey is sent out. 

 

 Steve Walters - 416 Sixth St 

 

Steve Walters spoke about not knowing why this is still being discussed. People have 

provided information that stop signs should not be used for speeding. If you want to 

enforce traffic violations, have a police officer out there writing tickets.  

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad spoke about how stop signs do not cure passing or speeding. There have been 

many studies that show this. People may ask to put a stop sign in to stop speeding, but that 

is not what they are for. The purpose of a stop sign is to control the right of way. 

38



18 | Page 

 

 Paula Panton – 809 Riverside Drive 

 

Paula Panton spoke about everything Steve and Haley said is true. People speed through 

the stop signs and the police aren’t writing those tickets.  

  

L. Consideration of obtaining a traffic study on Riverside Drive for calming device options – 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker spoke about wanting a traffic calming device study for the 

entire Town.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington spoke about not wanting to spend money to do a traffic study 

when there are plenty of people that during a Workshop can come up with something. 

 

Commissioner Adam Meyer asked if they could ask in their interview questions what the 

police chief would suggest for this situation. 

 

Mayor Alison Dennington made a motion to schedule a workshop to discuss traffic calming devices 

prior to spending any money for a study; Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded; Motion carried 4-0  

 

Haley Conrad - 2011 Oak St 

 

Haley Conrad agreed that having a traffic calming study for the entire Town is important.  

 

13. Administrative Reports  

 

A. Town Attorney 

 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about having a to do list from the meeting. 

 

B. Town Manager 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about having a lot of meetings the past month.  

 

Mayor Alison Dennington asked for a status from BS&E on the Poinsettia project. 

 

14. Commission Reports 

 

15. Task List 

 

16. Public Comment 

  

17. Adjournment 

 

Commissioner Marivi Walker moved to adjourn; Commissioner Adam Meyer seconded; Motion 

carried 4-0. 

 

39



19 | Page 

 

Meeting adjourned at 12:11 a.m.   

 

Transcribed by Rachel Pembrook 

 

 

 

        ATTEST: 

         

 

_________________________________   _________________________________ 

Alison Dennington, Mayor    Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

 

 

40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



  
 

1 
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Finance Department 

 

Memo 
To: Mayor, Vice Mayor and Commissioners 

From: Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

Date: July 10, 2024 

Re: June Fiscal Year 2024   

We are in the Ninth month of our fiscal year 2024. The target expenditure rate for June is 75.00%. All departments are doing 

well keeping their total expenditure budget within the target rate. Some budget lines are fully expended early in the budget 

year while other lines like salaries and health insurance are paid on a monthly basis. The total General Fund expenditure rate, 

year to date is 71.12%. The Departmental expenditure rate breakdown is as follows:   

 

Legislative:  76.96% 

  Executive:  69.71% 

  Finance:                71.46%  

  Legal:    65.46% 

  Comp & Plan:     16.05% 

  General Services:  60.45% 

  Law Enforcement:  71.11% 

  Fire:    72.40% 

  Code:    51.87% 

  Public Works:   65.83% 

  Grounds Keeping:  53.50% 

  Parks:                  63.85%       

 

Discussion Items:  

 

The Town received Parking Revenue for June FY2024 in the amount of $19,824.05. Parking revenue for June FY2023 

was $17,853.10.  

 

- A Fiscal Year (FY) parking comparison is attached.  

 

FY2025 Budget process has begun.   

 

 

95



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE FOR TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH                                                                      
Balance As Of 06/30/2024                                                                                        
Fund: 001 GENERAL FUND
Account Category: Revenues Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-00-311.00.00 AD VALOREM TAXES 2,685,662.00 2,685,662.00 0.00 28,704.41 98.93
001-00-312.41.00 LOCAL OPTION COUNTY GAS TAX 125,000.00 125,000.00 0.00 44,106.77 64.71
001-00-314.10.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX FPL 276,000.00 276,000.00 0.00 68,254.72 75.27
001-00-314.30.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX WATER 54,000.00 54,000.00 0.00 13,810.14 74.43
001-00-314.40.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX GAS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (98.38) 100.00
001-00-314.40.10 UTILTIY GAS TAX AMERIGAS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 2,756.83 67.57
001-00-314.40.20 UTILITY GAS TAX SUBURBAN 1,300.00 1,300.00 0.00 398.34 69.36
001-00-314.40.30 UTILTIY GAS TAX FERRELL 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (488.23) 119.53
001-00-314.40.40 UTILITY GAS TAX SAM'S GAS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (384.51) 484.51
001-00-314.40.50 UTILITY SERVICE GAS TAX THOMPSONGA 0.00 0.00 0.00 (321.96) 100.00
001-00-315.00.00 COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE TAX 145,000.00 145,000.00 0.00 52,272.70 63.95
001-00-316.00.00 OCCP. LIC 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 2,815.96 81.23
001-00-323.10.00 FRANCHISE FEES FPL 215,000.00 215,000.00 0.00 106,583.01 50.43
001-00-323.70.00 FRANCHISE FEES SOLID WASTE 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 10,879.24 75.27
001-00-323.70.10 SOLID WASTE COMMERCIAL 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 4,101.80 72.65
001-00-329.20.00 BONFIRE PERMIT 350.00 350.00 0.00 (550.00) 257.14
001-00-329.50.00 LOW SPEED VEHICLE REGISTRATION 500.00 500.00 0.00 (1,000.00) 300.00
001-00-329.50.10 LOW SPEED VEHICLE PERMIT FEE 600.00 600.00 0.00 (450.00) 175.00
001-00-331.12.00 FEMA 0.00 0.00 0.00 (41,906.43) 100.00
001-00-334.10.00 FEMA STATE GRANT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,786.46) 100.00
001-00-334.40.00 FMIT SAFETY GRANT 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 7,000.00 0.00
001-00-335.12.00 STATE REVENUE SHARING PROCEEDS 112,000.00 112,000.00 0.00 32,431.41 71.04
001-00-335.15.00 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSES 4,300.00 4,300.00 0.00 326.79 92.40
001-00-335.18.00 HALF CENT SALES TAX LOCAL GOV 225,000.00 225,000.00 0.00 88,118.64 60.84
001-00-342.20.00 SAFETY INSPECT FEE VAC RENTAL 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-00-342.20.10 SAFETY RENEWAL-VAC RENTALS 1,600.00 1,600.00 0.00 (350.00) 121.88
001-00-345.10.00 VAC RENTAL APP FEE-INITITAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-00-345.10.10 VAC RENEWAL FEE - RENTALS 4,725.00 4,725.00 0.00 175.00 96.30
001-00-361.10.00 INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 (7,028.61) 158.57
001-00-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (7,554.66) 402.19

96



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-00-369.00.49 INSURANCE RECOVERY 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 194,000.00 194,000.00 0.00 194,000.00 0.00

85.69
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEM
001-21-312.52.00 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX 45,500.00 45,500.00 0.00 45,500.00 0.00
001-21-337.20.00 SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 68,500.00 68,500.00 0.00 17,125.00 75.00
001-21-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00
001-21-347.90.01 SPECIAL EVENTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,280.00) 100.00
001-21-351.00.00 FINES - LAW ENFORCEMENT 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 1,326.05 73.48
001-21-351.13.00 PARKING TICKETS 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-21-351.13.10 ACCIDENT REPORT 200.00 200.00 0.00 35.00 82.50
001-21-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-21-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 100.00 100.00 0.00 96.00 4.00

44.84
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 10,700.00 10,700.00 0.00 10,700.00 0.00
001-22-322.30.00 FIRE PROTECTIVE SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 (1,760.00) 188.00
001-22-364.20.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - OTHER 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-22-369.55.10 SHARED TRAINING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00

28.27
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEM
001-29-359.00.00 OTHER FINES AND FORFEITURES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

0.00
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-41-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 0.00 0.00 0.00 (721.00) 100.00

144.20
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
001-72-347.41.00 FOUNDER'S DAY 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 (332.50) 104.75
001-72-347.50.00 FACILITY RENTALS 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 3,300.00 45.00
001-72-366.19.00 TH DONATIONS - KIDS BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (1,640.00) 132.80

92.63

97



Overall Revenue Rate: 84.33

Account Category: Expenditures Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
Department: 00 
001-00-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 441,761.00 441,761.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

100.00
Department: 11 LEGISLATIVE
001-11-500.11.00 EXECUTIVE SALARIES 16,200.00 16,200.00 0.00 6,583.45 59.36
001-11-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 60,113.00 60,113.00 0.00 16,579.13 72.42
001-11-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 5,838.00 5,838.00 0.00 1,892.73 67.58
001-11-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 8,157.00 8,157.00 0.00 2,249.47 72.42
001-11-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 6,534.00 6,534.00 0.00 1,491.50 77.17
001-11-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 71.00 71.00 0.00 14.70 79.30
001-11-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 244.00 244.00 0.00 188.03 22.94
001-11-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
001-11-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 4,465.00 4,465.00 0.00 3,015.38 32.47
001-11-510.40.10 TRAVEL & MEETINGS - STAFF 2,100.00 2,100.00 0.00 1,017.71 51.54
001-11-510.47.00 PRINTING 12,593.00 12,593.00 0.00 6,233.51 50.50
001-11-510.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 650.24 18.72
001-11-510.48.40 LEGAL NOTICES 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 9,436.75 5.63
001-11-510.49.50 ELECTION EXPENSE 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 948.16 91.38
001-11-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 720.00 720.00 0.00 (110.00) 115.28
001-11-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 3,560.00 3,560.00 0.00 1,616.00 54.61
001-11-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 85,700.00 85,700.00 4,740.00 (4,882.24) 105.70
001-11-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 34,267.00 34,267.00 6,300.00 2,282.63 93.34

76.96
Department: 12 EXECUTIVE
001-12-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 147,720.00 147,720.00 0.00 42,331.78 71.34
001-12-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,301.00 11,301.00 0.00 2,270.75 79.91
001-12-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 15,247.00 15,247.00 0.00 4,445.31 70.84
001-12-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 4,937.00 4,937.00 0.00 1,437.59 70.88
001-12-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,117.00 28,117.00 0.00 10,025.29 64.34
001-12-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 828.00 828.00 0.00 238.29 71.22
001-12-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 212.00 212.00 0.00 73.83 65.17

98



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-12-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,820.00 1,820.00 0.00 1,081.14 40.60
001-12-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-12-510.52.50 GAS & OIL 2,400.00 2,400.00 0.00 600.00 75.00
001-12-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 3,511.00 3,511.00 0.00 2,124.73 39.48
001-12-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,680.00 1,680.00 0.00 1,130.00 32.74

69.71
Department: 13 FINANCE
001-13-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 112,950.00 112,950.00 0.00 31,592.37 72.03
001-13-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 8,641.00 8,641.00 0.00 2,437.89 71.79
001-13-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 15,327.00 15,327.00 0.00 4,286.68 72.03
001-13-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 39,000.00 39,000.00 0.00 19,688.60 49.52
001-13-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 297.00 297.00 0.00 184.40 37.91
001-13-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 158.00 158.00 0.00 53.23 66.31
001-13-510.32.00 AUDITING SERVICES 32,600.00 32,600.00 0.00 1,750.00 94.63
001-13-510.32.90 BANKING FEES 12,916.00 12,916.00 0.00 5,191.15 59.81
001-13-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,221.00 1,221.00 0.00 321.87 73.64
001-13-510.47.00 PRINTING 216.00 216.00 0.00 216.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 60.00 60.00 0.00 60.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 468.05 53.20
001-13-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 7,785.00 7,785.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

71.46
Department: 14 LEGAL COUNSEL
001-14-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 97,000.00 97,000.00 0.00 36,878.78 61.98
001-14-510.31.01 CODE ENFORCEMENT ATTORNEY 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 77.50 99.23

65.46
Department: 15 PLANNING
001-15-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 21,826.20 16.05

16.05
Department: 16 FEMA - HURRICA  
001-16-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 0.00 0.00 0.00 67.76 100.00

67.76 100.00

99



Department: 19 GENERAL SERVICDescription Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-19-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 3,687.00 3,687.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-19-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,620.00 4,620.00 0.00 1,417.50 69.32
001-19-510.31.11 SECURITY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 700.00 30.00
001-19-510.34.10 JANITORIAL SERVICES 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 5,669.00 66.65
001-19-510.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXP 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00
001-19-510.41.00 TELEPHONE 25,080.00 25,080.00 0.00 7,581.09 69.77
001-19-510.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 45,372.00 45,372.00 0.00 6,381.33 85.94
001-19-510.43.00 STREET LIGHTS 50,400.00 50,400.00 0.00 16,438.01 67.38
001-19-510.43.10 ELECTRICITY 33,600.00 33,600.00 0.00 14,034.91 58.23
001-19-510.43.20 WATER & SEWER 3,650.00 3,650.00 0.00 633.84 82.63
001-19-510.43.50 WASTE TAX SERVICE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 70.45 97.18
001-19-510.45.00 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 94,000.00 94,000.00 0.00 9,382.00 90.02
001-19-510.45.01 FLOOD INSURANCE 5,690.00 5,690.00 0.00 (360.00) 106.33
001-19-510.45.02 PROPERTY INSURANCE 128,000.00 128,000.00 0.00 30,641.00 76.06
001-19-510.45.03 AUTO INSURANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 (688.00) 107.64
001-19-510.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,832.00 4,832.00 0.00 2,140.05 55.71
001-19-510.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 31,500.00 31,500.00 0.00 17,697.68 43.82
001-19-510.46.36 PEST CONTROL 3,120.00 3,120.00 0.00 330.00 89.42
001-19-510.47.00 PRINTING 900.00 900.00 0.00 799.88 11.12
001-19-510.49.90 ADOPT AN AREA 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 939.27 6.07
001-19-510.49.98 CONTINGENCY 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00
001-19-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 300.00 0.00 147.13 50.96
001-19-510.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 11,000.00 11,000.00 0.00 6,213.46 43.51
001-19-510.51.10 POSTAGE 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 498.23 66.78
001-19-510.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 3,054.91 43.43
001-19-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 435.00 435.00 0.00 39.97 90.81
001-19-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 148,000.00 148,000.00 0.00 141,478.99 4.41
001-19-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 20,585.00 20,585.00 0.00 7,767.27 62.27
001-19-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 77,000.00 77,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

60.45
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEM
001-21-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 721,855.00 721,855.00 0.00 208,005.94 71.18
001-21-500.12.50 HOLIDAY PAY 23,000.00 23,000.00 0.00 3,930.77 82.91

100



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-21-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 633.98 95.77
001-21-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00
001-21-500.15.00 EDUCATION INCENTIVE PAY 7,634.00 7,634.00 0.00 2,302.93 69.83
001-21-500.15.01 FIRST RESPONDER 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 1,608.93 73.18
001-21-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 54,888.00 54,888.00 0.00 13,062.22 76.20
001-21-500.22.02 POLICE PENSION 142,500.00 142,500.00 0.00 41,446.57 70.91
001-21-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 5,217.00 5,217.00 0.00 2,503.55 52.01
001-21-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 105,440.00 105,440.00 0.00 33,117.84 68.59
001-21-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 2,900.00 2,900.00 0.00 1,117.16 61.48
001-21-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (162.50) 116.25
001-21-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 8,848.00 8,848.00 0.00 271.00 96.94
001-21-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 2,296.00 2,296.00 0.00 1,579.77 31.19
001-21-520.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 725.00 725.00 0.00 275.00 62.07
001-21-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 18,319.00 18,319.00 0.00 (549.11) 103.00
001-21-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (1,133.00) 213.30
001-21-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,184.00 3,184.00 0.00 2,163.36 32.06
001-21-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 (27.70) 100.46
001-21-520.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 6,825.53 2.49
001-21-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,038.10 58.48
001-21-520.46.16 RADAR CALIBRATION 250.00 250.00 0.00 (261.00) 204.40
001-21-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 1,422.06 91.63
001-21-520.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 274.18 81.72
001-21-520.48.50 CRIME PREVENTION 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 780.27 47.98
001-21-520.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 100.00 100.00 0.00 2.55 97.45
001-21-520.51.10 POSTAGE 125.00 125.00 0.00 116.44 6.85
001-21-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 8,500.00 8,500.00 0.00 5,305.60 37.58
001-21-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 2,607.66 25.50
001-21-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 25,000.00 25,000.00 0.00 11,014.08 55.94
001-21-520.52.70 MEDICAL 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
001-21-520.52.90 OPERATING SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 (99.23) 103.31
001-21-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,175.00 1,175.00 0.00 470.00 60.00
001-21-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 6,400.00 6,400.00 0.00 5,950.00 7.03
001-21-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 8,400.00 8,400.00 0.00 (3,600.43) 142.86

101



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-21-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 14,646.00 14,646.00 0.00 3,244.48 77.85
001-21-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

71.11
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 96,226.00 96,226.00 0.00 25,433.98 73.57
001-22-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 1,890.00 1,890.00 0.00 1,890.00 0.00
001-22-500.14.50 STIPEND PAYROLL 44,000.00 44,000.00 0.00 27,479.00 37.55
001-22-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 10,727.00 10,727.00 0.00 4,024.41 62.48
001-22-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 9,248.00 9,248.00 0.00 2,218.05 76.02
001-22-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 3,591.00 3,591.00 0.00 1,014.49 71.75
001-22-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 28,200.00 28,200.00 0.00 6,220.10 77.94
001-22-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 148.00 148.00 0.00 35.40 76.08
001-22-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 207.00 207.00 0.00 (162.50) 178.50
001-22-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 16,222.00 16,222.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-22-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 241.00 241.00 0.00 150.05 37.74
001-22-520.31.11 SECURITY 0.00 0.00 0.00 (300.00) 100.00
001-22-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 1,200.00 77.78
001-22-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 2,060.00 2,060.00 0.00 1,644.00 20.19
001-22-520.36.00 ANNUAL PHYSICALS 4,375.00 4,375.00 0.00 3,275.00 25.14
001-22-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 750.00 750.00 0.00 193.89 74.15
001-22-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 1,944.00 1,944.00 0.00 324.00 83.33
001-22-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 1,770.12 82.30
001-22-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 32,000.00 32,000.00 0.00 16,751.19 47.65
001-22-520.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (1,038.86) 203.89
001-22-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 800.00 800.00 0.00 582.60 27.18
001-22-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 12,600.00 12,600.00 0.00 9,898.06 21.44
001-22-520.52.02 S.C.B.A. 2,550.00 2,550.00 0.00 (999.76) 139.21
001-22-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,925.00 2,925.00 0.00 922.02 68.48
001-22-520.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 588.52 41.15
001-22-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 9,446.29 10.04
001-22-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 2,834.28 43.31
001-22-520.52.70 MEDICAL 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 (933.33) 166.67
001-22-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 610.00 610.00 0.00 60.00 90.16

102



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-22-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 5,525.00 5,525.00 0.00 1,462.00 73.54
001-22-520.54.12 TRAINING MATERIALS 3,200.00 3,200.00 0.00 2,754.46 13.92
001-22-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 82,369.00 82,369.00 195.00 2,714.98 96.70
001-22-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 13,473.00 13,473.00 0.00 1,637.01 87.85
001-22-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 36,500.00 36,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

72.40
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEM
001-29-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 15,792.00 15,792.00 0.00 7,915.00 49.88
001-29-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 1,208.00 1,208.00 0.00 447.64 62.94
001-29-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 2,143.00 2,143.00 0.00 794.21 62.94
001-29-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 21.00 21.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 738.00 738.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 51.00 51.00 0.00 37.99 25.51
001-29-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 100.00 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.48.55 FIRE PREVENTION 4,600.00 4,600.00 0.00 1,244.64 72.94
001-29-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 125.00 125.00 0.00 97.37 22.10
001-29-520.51.10 POSTAGE 350.00 350.00 0.00 228.18 34.81
001-29-520.51.20 RECORDING COSTS 120.00 120.00 0.00 120.00 0.00
001-29-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 600.00 600.00 0.00 600.00 0.00
001-29-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

51.87
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 253,947.00 253,947.00 0.00 95,517.78 62.39
001-41-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 3,051.80 23.71
001-41-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 19,427.00 19,427.00 0.00 7,055.84 63.68
001-41-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 34,461.00 34,461.00 0.00 12,801.07 62.85
001-41-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 46,000.00 46,000.00 0.00 16,018.69 65.18
001-41-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 294.00 294.00 0.00 (106.53) 136.23
001-41-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 83.00 83.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

103



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-41-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 4,424.00 4,424.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 813.00 813.00 0.00 603.23 25.80
001-41-530.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 150.00 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-41-530.43.15 ELECTRICAL WORK 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (5,303.50) 206.07
001-41-530.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,918.84 4.06
001-41-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 6,500.00 6,500.00 0.00 5,625.74 13.45
001-41-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 4,260.85 14.78
001-41-530.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,500.00 9,500.00 0.00 246.08 97.41
001-41-530.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 (3,210.88) 135.68
001-41-530.46.31 MAINTENANCE OLD TOWN HALL 600.00 600.00 0.00 539.57 10.07
001-41-530.46.32 RYCKMAN HOUSE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (700.00) 170.00
001-41-530.46.33 OLD POST OFFICE REPAIRS 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,869.69 6.52
001-41-530.46.35 PIER MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 863.40 13.66
001-41-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 5,101.46 48.99
001-41-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,750.00 3,750.00 0.00 2,147.75 42.73
001-41-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 1,749.34 30.03
001-41-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (335.46) 106.71
001-41-530.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 645.85 56.94
001-41-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 7,000.00 7,000.00 0.00 2,413.75 65.52
001-41-530.53.10 STREET REPAIR 7,500.00 7,500.00 0.00 1,158.91 84.55
001-41-530.53.20 STREET SIGNS 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 4,034.38 49.57
001-41-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 984.05 34.40
001-41-530.57.25 WELDING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

65.83
Department: 42 GROUNDS KEEPI
001-42-530.34.91 LANDSCAPING 22,300.00 22,300.00 0.00 9,512.27 57.34
001-42-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (276.66) 111.07
001-42-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 26,000.00 26,000.00 0.00 21,545.22 17.13
001-42-530.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
001-42-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,125.00 3,125.00 0.00 2,980.25 4.63
001-42-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 575.00 575.00 0.00 485.31 15.60

104



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
001-42-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 500.00 500.00 0.00 (840.48) 268.10
001-42-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (63.59) 106.36
001-42-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 375.00 375.00 0.00 375.00 0.00
001-42-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,134.60) 100.00
001-42-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 4,250.00 4,250.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

53.50
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
001-72-570.48.10 FOUNDER'S DAY 8,000.00 8,000.00 0.00 (549.02) 106.86
001-72-570.48.50 MOVIES IN THE PARK 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 813.03 54.83
001-72-570.48.52 FOURTH OF JULY 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 500.00 50.00
001-72-570.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS PARK 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 (592.55) 114.81
001-72-570.48.60 EASTER EGG HUNT 400.00 400.00 0.00 (25.12) 106.28
001-72-570.48.90 RECREATION PROGRAMS 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,530.59 29.39
001-72-570.48.91 CHILDREN'S BUSINESS FAIR 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 (985.87) 119.72
001-72-570.63.01 TENNIS COURT EXPEDITURES 700.00 700.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
001-72-570.63.02 BBALL & VBALL COURTS 700.00 700.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 30,000.00 30,000.00 0.00 17,070.00 43.10

63.85
Overall Expenditure Rate: 71.12

Fund: 104 ENVIRONMENTAL ADV  
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
104-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 9,977.14 9,977.14 0.00 9,977.14 0.00
104-00-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (568.00) 100.00
104-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

39.21
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREA
104-72-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
104-72-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 500.00 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
104-72-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 920.29 23.31
104-72-570.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (345.35) 100.00

105



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
104-72-570.52.00 UNIFORMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 360.77 9.81
104-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 4,971.17 17.15
104-72-570.83.01 SUNSHINE JIM 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 57.61 96.16

27.03

Fund: 125 BUILDING DEPT
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 24 PROTECTIVE INS
125-24-322.00.00 BUILDING PERMITS 240,000.00 240,000.00 0.00 98,106.87 59.12
125-24-322.10.00 ZONING PLAN REVIEW 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 2,045.91 18.16
125-24-322.10.10 SITE PLAN REVIEW P&Z 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 5,698.75 5.02
125-24-322.20.00 BUILDING PLAN REVIEW 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 3,750.00 31.82
125-24-322.31.00 BOA ADVERTISING COSTS 100.00 100.00 0.00 (175.06) 275.06
125-24-322.31.20 P&Z ADVERTISING 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
125-24-329.00.00 OTHER LICENSES, FEES & PERMITS 13,000.00 13,000.00 0.00 4,091.00 68.53
125-24-329.00.10 BOA VARIANCE FEES 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 (3,297.00) 429.70
125-24-354.00.00 LOCAL ORDINANCE VIOLATION 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 1,322.14 77.96
125-24-364.10.00 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS - VEHICLES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (6,000.00) 100.00

61.45
Account Category: Expenditures
125-24-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 154,096.00 154,096.00 0.00 42,723.95 72.27
125-24-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
125-24-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 11,788.34 11,788.34 0.00 3,450.85 70.73
125-24-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 20,910.83 20,910.83 0.00 5,797.52 72.28
125-24-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 17,000.00 17,000.00 0.00 6,216.32 63.43
125-24-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 136.00 0.00 43.10 68.31
125-24-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 42.00 42.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
125-24-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 1,475.00 1,475.00 0.00 1,475.00 0.00
125-24-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 493.11 493.11 0.00 349.70 29.08
125-24-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 700.00 700.00 0.00 (476.46) 168.07
125-24-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (130.00) 100.00
125-24-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 800.00 800.00 0.00 374.09 53.24
125-24-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 430.00 430.00 0.00 181.00 57.91

106



Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
125-24-520.51.10 POSTAGE 75.00 75.00 0.00 57.64 23.15
125-24-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 560.00 560.00 0.00 335.31 40.12
125-24-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 100.00 100.00 0.00 (129.00) 229.00
125-24-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 700.00 700.00 0.00 369.04 47.28
125-24-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,475.00 1.67
125-24-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 400.00 400.00 0.00 (549.00) 237.25
125-24-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 (10,733.00) 100.00
125-24-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 3,490.00 3,490.00 0.00 (326.85) 109.37
125-24-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00

69.66

Fund: 145 AMERICAN RESCUE PL
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
145-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 759,385.36 759,385.36 0.00 759,385.36 0.00

0.00
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
145-41-530.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,330.00) 100.00
145-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 758,533.87 758,533.87 0.00 725,488.34 4.36

5.32

Fund: 172 OCEAN PARK PARKING 
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
172-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 51,144.00 51,144.00 0.00 51,144.00 0.00

0.00
Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
172-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 7,550.00 37.08
172-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 95,000.00 95,000.00 0.00 33,748.06 64.48

78.18

107



Account Category: Expenditures Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
172-75-575.31.02 LIFEGUARD CONTRACT 73,000.00 73,000.00 0.00 55,119.64 24.49
172-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 5,500.00 5,500.00 0.00 1,801.96 67.24

Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
172-75-575.34.10 JANITORIAL CLEANING 1,800.00 1,800.00 0.00 450.00 75.00
172-75-575.34.91 LANDSCAPING 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,278.27 14.78
172-75-575.41.10 IPS COMMUNICATIONS FEE 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 2,269.32 54.61
172-75-575.43.10 ELECTRICITY 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 1,212.30 59.59
172-75-575.43.20 WATER & SEWER 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 (206.55) 117.21
172-75-575.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 250.00 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
172-75-575.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 626.05 79.13
172-75-575.46.31 BUILDING MAINT RESTROOMS 400.00 400.00 0.00 (321.81) 180.45
172-75-575.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 1,200.00 1,200.00 0.00 759.46 36.71
172-75-575.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 350.00 350.00 0.00 (1,622.75) 563.64
172-75-575.52.25 TOOL RENTAL 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.15 PARKING LOT REPAIRS 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.20 SIGNS 800.00 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
172-75-575.63.03 VOLLEYBALL COURT 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 1,506.04 24.70
172-75-575.63.05 BOCCE BALL COURT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (7,356.15) 100.00
172-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 6,000.00 6,000.00 0.00 5,433.07 9.45
172-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

40.04

Fund: 175 RYCKMAN CROSSOVE   
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
175-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 120,556.74 120,556.74 0.00 120,556.74 0.00

0.00
Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
175-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 (1,800.00) 151.43
175-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 89,000.00 89,000.00 0.00 23,008.08 74.15
175-75-344.50.10 PARK PASS REVENUE 2,500.00 2,500.00 0.00 (400.00) 116.00
175-75-347.90.01 SPECIAL EVENTS 0.00 0.00 0.00 (75.00) 100.00

78.18

108



Account Category: Expenditures Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
175-75-575.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0.00 0.00 0.00 (3,000.00) 100.00

Description Original Budget Amended Encumbran Available % Used
175-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 3,400.00 3,400.00 0.00 934.64 72.51
175-75-575.41.15 IPS COMMUNICATION FEE 2,800.00 2,800.00 0.00 1,040.91 62.82
175-75-575.47.00 PRINTING 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,876.50) 100.00
175-75-575.48.52 FALL FESTIVAL 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 325.06 91.87
175-75-575.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS 4,000.00 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.50.00 RECREATION PROGRAMS 10,500.00 10,500.00 0.00 3,200.00 69.52
175-75-575.63.06 PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,928.59) 100.00
175-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00
175-75-575.73.00 CULTURAL SERVICES 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 2,699.08 22.88
175-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 91,500.00 91,500.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

67.36

Fund: 351 LAND & ROAD IMPRO
Account Category: Revenues
Department: 00 
351-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 27,397.17 27,397.17 0.00 27,397.17 0.00
351-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 90,000.00 90,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00

76.66
Account Category: Expenditures
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
351-41-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 3,777.50 24.45
351-41-570.31.21 ENGINEERING SERVICES 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 8,896.00 11.04
351-41-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,183.10) 100.00
351-41-570.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 9,000.00 9,000.00 0.00 8,650.00 3.89
351-41-570.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.53.20 STREET SIGNS 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 (3,359.13) 116.80
351-41-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00

23.26

109



Parking Revenue FY Comparison

FY23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 TOTAL
Ocean 4,921.04 3,785.42 3,456.88 4,996.04 8,137.70 13,056.24 9,875.00 10,732.69 10,164.36 69,125.37
Ryckman 6,354.35 5,050.00 6,359.91 6,415.41 8,745.55 10,817.72 9,235.16 9,540.80 7,688.74 70,207.64
Total 11,275.39 8,835.42 9,816.79 11,411.45 16,883.25 23,873.96 19,110.16 20,273.49 17,853.10 139,333.01

FY24 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-24 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24 TOTAL
Ocean 4,323.54 3,669.99 2,544.37 2,412.50 3,359.78 10,650.19 10,584.79 11,999.21 11,707.57 61,251.94
Ryckman 5,616.47 4,085.40 5,833.19 5,111.66 6,927.64 10,600.74 9,782.44 9,917.90 8,116.48 65,991.92
Total 9,940.01 7,755.39 8,377.56 7,524.16 10,287.42 21,250.93 20,367.23 21,917.11 19,824.05 127,243.86

110



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: Parks Board General Report    

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 

From:  Dawn Barlow, Chairperson   

 

 

All, 

As the Parks Board Chairperson, I presented at the June Town Commission meeting on 3 

projects the Board has been asked to advise on.  Our meeting notes from July 1, 2024, 

are on file with the Town Clerk, but I wanted to provide an update in summary form: 

1. Honor our Veterans 

 Circle Park  

 Originally, the Board was asked to explore creating a memorial in 

Circle Park. 

 Update: Based on the reaction and feedback from the June Town 

Commission Meeting and the residents who attended the July 1 

Parks Board meeting, the Parks Board believes it to be in the best 

interest of the Town to shift the memorial project to Ryckman and 

support a general refresh of Circle Park.  Further exploratory 

discussions will include Ryckman House and DAR 

representatives.  Our Board is updating and finalizing the Required 

Components document to provide possible vendors for Circle Park 

refresh.  The goal is to present our in the findings 

August/September timeframe. 

 Hometown Heroes  

 Originally, the Board presented this in addition to creating a 

memorial.   

 Update: Our board will be gathering costs to support the program. 

The goal is to have Hometown Heroes presented at the August or 

September TC meeting. 

2. Bicentennial Park 

 Originally, the Board was asked to review $1,500 water feature donation. 

 Update: Joyce Barton attended our Board meeting on July 1.  We 

appreciate the history she was able to provide. The Board also recognizes 

and appreciates the efforts the Garden Club has provided for 60+ years.  

She did share that the donation was specific to a water feature.  Our Board 

will be researching commercial grade equipment for the Town to consider.  

The Board also recommends that the Town consider some recognition for 

111



all that the Garden Club has contributed.  Because the idea is to have 

“Welcome to Melbourne Beach” incorporated into the water feature, a 

larger discussion took place around all “welcome” signage.  The Board 

recognizes that all signage is outside park boundaries or Park Board 

advisory level. We suggest the Town consider a cohesive sign package 

concurrently with the water feature.   

3. Playground Equipment 

 Originally, the Board was asked to explore playground equipment 

replacement. 

 Update: Research continues, and the Board will also reach out to 

Indialantic to learn more about their vendor and weather resistant materials 

utilized.   

Our next Board sponsored event is scheduled in November.  Because summer is a 

downtime for events held, it helps us focus our time on these key projects identified by 

the Town.  They will remain on our agenda. Residents are welcome at our monthly 

meetings, held every 1st Thursday of the month.  Our next meeting is August 1.  The 

Board expects to present our findings at future Town Commission meetings.       

112



Public Works Activities 

June 2024 

 

Built swales west side of Oak from Ocean to northside of 4th  

Removed old irrigation pump cover at Circle Park installed new one and new timer 

Removed broken plexiglass window on playground toy – vandalized 

Removed numerous “pop up” signs in right of way Ocean Ave. east 

Flags up and down for July 4th 

Replaced floor drain Ocean Park restroom 

Cleaned water filter on artesian well Ryckman east 

Attempted to unclog toilet OP womens restroom – rolls of toilet paper sunglasses 

Note: so badly clogged had to hire commercial company to resolve clog 

Cleared grass growing through pavement on Cherry 

Removed one of the sections of fence at railroad exhibit by pier- damaged by vehicle 

Installed new poles signs on Oak from 1st through 4th. used stop signs removed from Riverside 

Replaced 2 hand soap dispensers Ocean Park – vandalized 

Removed and replaced dais furniture – new floor/dais  

Removed replaced irrigation pump on Ocean Ave. front of Savers Drug 

Cleaned stormwater baffle boxes 

Removed speed humps 

Repaired beach wheel chair box at Ocean Park – wear and tear 

Constructed a drain route for stormwater to drain west end of 4th Ave.  

Removed deceased raccoon on Banyan 

Rebuilt 2 swings at Ocean Park – wear and tear 

113



Repaired sign at Ave. A and Oak St. 

Repaired ballusters that had been kicked out Ocean Park crossover 

Trimmed trees hanging blocking street signs 10 locations 

Installed 2 hearing impaired children at play on Ash 

Installed 2 no parking signs on 2nd resident request 

Replace street signs Orange and 4th hit by vehicle 

Place 2 picnic tables in Ryckman former bocce court area 

Replaced damaged control button drinking fountain Ocean Park 

Painted crosswalks  

Pot hole repairs Riverside 

Worked with company for rat eradication at Old Town Hall/History Center 

Assisted with Pineapple Man triathlon 

 

   

114



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
BREVARD COUNTY’S OLDEST BEACH COMMUNITY ESTABLISHED 1883 

507 OCEAN AVENUE, MELBOURNE BEACH, FL 32951-2523 
(321) 724-5860         FAX: (321) 984-8994       www.melbournebeachfl.org 

 
 
 

Building Department Report   
 

JUNE 2024 
 

 
 

 permits issued 52 

 Construction value of the  $697,128.13  permits totaled $14,222.99 

 Total permit fees $14,222.99 

  Inspections completed 127 

  Plans reviewed 52 

  Site plan review for P&Z 0 

  Vacation rental inspections 1 

  New home 0 

  Stop work order 0 
 

115



Monthly Permit List 07/02/2024

1/6

Accessory Structure
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

construction of cabana structure Work Description:

$60000.00$820.00526 SUNSET BLVD.GROUNDED BUILDS
BREVARD, LLC

PAS24-0006

Chickee hutWork Description:

$4000.00$0.001908 CEDAR LANEJACKSON, WILLIAMPAS24-0005

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $820.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $64000.00

Com Building
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

complete 2 bores under fifth ave and place 1 1/2" conduit by
bore method parallel to fifth ave place 7 handholes

Work Description:

$0.01$0.00207 FIFTH AVEBLUESTREAK JONATHAN
RIOS

PCB24-0005

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $0.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $0.01

Electrical
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Replace 200A main breaker panel and breakersWork Description:

$2140.00$79.00402 POINSETTIA RDJames W Bruce JrPE24-0031

REPLACE EXISTING 125AMP ELECTRICAL PANEL WITH NEW 125AMP
ELECTRICAL PANEL 

Work Description:

$2000.00$79.002105 ATLANTIC ST 611Miller, EvanPE24-0032

upgrade service to 320aWork Description:

$8550.00$262.921607 ATLANTIC STHECK, JAMES & TIAPE24-0030

Replace 125 amp electrical panel with new 125 amp electrical
panel 

Work Description:

$1700.00$229.001606 ATLANTIC ST 3Miller, EvanPE24-0035

REWIRE KITCHENWork Description:

$4750.00$146.64404 THIRD AVEHECK, JAMES & TIAPE24-0033

INSTALLATION OF NEW 150 AMP ELECTRICAL PANEL *LIKE FOR LIKE *
SAME LOCATION  (GARAGE)

Work Description:

$2980.00$93.40412 SECOND AVEPETER FURROWPE24-0034

Total Permits For Type: 6
Total Fees For Type: $889.96

116



Total Const. Value For Type: $22120.00

Fence
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

fence installation Work Description:

$2000.00$79.00445 SANDY KYGANARY, DEREKPF24-0020

REMOVE AND REPLACE 396 LF OF  6' HIGH VINYL WITH 2 GATESWork Description:

$10272.00$310.29391 RIVERVIEW LNAAA QUALITY FENCE LLCPF24-0018

243 ft of white privacy PVC fence with no gatesWork Description:

$6222.00$191.46218 DOGWOOD AVEFENCE OUTLET INCPF24-0019

Install 83' of wood fence including two walk gates Work Description:

$3728.20$115.85901 ATLANTIC STPatterson, AlanPF24-0022

Total Permits For Type: 4
Total Fees For Type: $696.60

Total Const. Value For Type: $22222.20

Mechanical
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

REPLACE OUTSIDE AC FAN HOUSING, FAN AND COMPRESSORWork Description:

$1800.00$79.00300 SURF RDKOLLEN, GLENNPM24-0055

exact replacement 4 ton AC condenser only - Reuse matched ALTWork Description:

$6890.00$211.871304 PINE STRalph W DurhamPM24-0050

INSTALL 24,000 BTU GREE MINI SPLIT HEAT PUMPWork Description:

$4100.00$0.00507 OCEAN AVECharles SilvaPM24-0051

change out AC with American STandard Air Handler Work Description:

$4641.00$143.32103 OAK STWHITLOCK, GARYPM24-0046

CHANGE OUT SIZE FOR SIZE 3 TON 14.5 SEER2 DAIKIN HEAT PUMP
SYSTEM. INCLUDES NO DUCT WORK

Work Description:

$14482.00$353.44510 BANYAN WAYLYONS, TRAVISPM24-0052

replace A/C systemWork Description:

$8615.00$264.912050 ATLANTIC ST 312Gregory L VermettPM24-0047

same size  a/c changeout 3ton straight cool split system Work Description:

$6900.00$212.18201 FOURTH AVE AKRISTOPHER MOOREPM24-0054

replace HVAC system exact size change out no duct work Work Description:

$5827.00$179.43305 SECOND AVEKristin N KellyPM24-0048

Total Permits For Type: 8
Total Fees For Type: $1444.15

Total Const. Value For Type: $53255.00

Miscellaneous
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

117



Foundation repair - install four (4X) Helical pile on the east
side bathroom, bedroom and garage of the house 

Work Description:

$10000.00$307.50209 CHERRY DRFOUNDATION REPAIR
SERVICES

PMC24-0009

custom built authentic chickee hut with thatched roof made of
palm 

Work Description:

$0.01$0.00302 SIXTH AVEBIG KAHUNA TIKI HUTSPMC24-0007

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $307.50

Total Const. Value For Type: $10000.01

Paver, Concrete, & Deck
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

9'6"x 16'x4" back patio addition and 6'6"x2'x4" back patio
addition with 8"x8" footing and 1 #5 rebar, 3,000 psi
fibercrete

Work Description:

$4650.00$143.59203 SIXTH AVE 12UNIVERSAL CONTRACTING
AND CONSTRUCTION

PCD24-0014

install driveway pavers Work Description:

$15500.00$363.88602 MANGO DRDave Nielsen LLCPCD24-0018

new paver driveway walk way front entry walkway from the
driveway to teh pool deck expand pad deck by approx 200'

Work Description:

$28194.65$494.00608 MANGO DRSurfside Pavers Inc.PCD24-0013

10'X10'X4" PATIO EXTENSION ON EAST SIDE OF HOUSE WITH ONE
12"X12" DOUBLE #5 REBAR FOOTER. 26'X10X4" PATIO EXTENSION ON
REAR OF HOUSE WITH 2 12"X12" BOUBLE #5 REBAR FOOTERS. FOOTERS
WILL BE USED FOR FUTURE PATIO COVER

Work Description:

$3900.00$121.00214 ELM AVELERVOLD, MICHAEL
LERVOLD, JENNIFER

PCD24-0019

Installation of paver driveway 1200 sq ft on front of house
where old round about gravel drive existed 

Work Description:

$13200.00$402.38312 BANYAN WAYBANAPOUR, MAYPCD24-0017

Build deck on rear of property (re-building a previously
existing deck that was removed. Add onto existing fence

Work Description:

$26000.00$471.501503 ATLANTIC ST ATODD THOMAS HOME
IMPROVEMENTS

PCD24-0015

Framing and drywall, kitchen, bathrooms, livinging roon,
bedrooms, doors for bathrooms, pavers on exterior porches. 

Work Description:

$3000.00$94.00200 SIXTH AVEHOBGOOD, CORTNEYPCD24-0020

Total Permits For Type: 7
Total Fees For Type: $2090.35

Total Const. Value For Type: $94444.65

Plumbing
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

REPLACE HOT WATER HEATER WITH WARRANTY UNIT Work Description:

$600.00$79.00418 AVENUE BHARPER, DANIELPP24-0016

$10179.90$0.00223 SIXTH AVESTEPHEN MCANALLYPP24-0015

118



Replace all water linew with Pex through atticWork Description:

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $79.00

Total Const. Value For Type: $10779.90

Reroof
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

26g standing seam reroof - Boat Dock only Work Description:

$4450.00$137.50396 RIVER VWFlorida Native Roofing
Inc

PRR24-0031

re-roof with like materials (self adheard underlayment
w/shingles

Work Description:

$16000.00$444.00302 ORANGE STJ&M ROOFING LLCPRR24-0033

re-roof, commercial, 60 mil tpo 106 sqs, metal 15 sqsWork Description:

$119328.00$1329.06300 OCEAN AVEG&G ROOFING
CONSTRUCTION INC
CHEYANNE@CFLROOFING.COM

PRR24-0038

flat roof replacementWork Description:

$10500.00$312.63320 HIBISCUS TRLFLORIDA HIGH AND DRY
ROOFING

PRR24-0032

reroof home with shinglesWork Description:

$19900.00$408.98209 CHERRY DRROC ROOFING INCPRR24-0036

reroof Work Description:

$16495.00$374.07521 ANDREWS DRHEART ROOFING INCPRR24-0035

reroof: remove and replace shingles Work Description:

$17860.00$388.07403 ANDREWS DRRALPH CARPENTER ROOFING
INC

PRR24-0034

remove existing shingle roof and replace with .032 Aluminium
STanding Seam roof 

Work Description:

$10000.00$307.50401 SECOND AVEHASTINGS ROOFING
SERVICE, INC CODY
HASTINGS

PRR24-0037

Total Permits For Type: 8
Total Fees For Type: $3701.81

Total Const. Value For Type: $214533.00

Res Building
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

Installation of an aluminum patio covering on the northeast
side of the house 

Work Description:

$10000.00$307.50402 SURF RDGROUNDED BUILDS
BREVARD, LLC

PRB24-0022

install impact windows, remodel two bathroomsWork Description:

$50000.00$717.50536 SUNSET BLVDPORTER,BENJAMIN CORY
AND PORTER, ANNA NEVIUS

PRB24-0023

Total Permits For Type: 2
Total Fees For Type: $1025.00

119



Total Fees For Type: $1025.00
Total Const. Value For Type: $60000.00

Shed
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

12 x10 wood shed to be built on property - no plumbing, no
electric

Work Description:

$5720.00$176.171202 OAK STBackyard Storage
Solutions LLC

PSH24-0004

Total Permits For Type: 1
Total Fees For Type: $176.17

Total Const. Value For Type: $5720.00

Window, Door, and Shutter Permit
Permit # Applicant Address Fee Total Const. Value

REPLACE GARAGE DOOR Work Description:

$6500.00$199.931906 ROSEWOOD DRAll Pro Garage Doors
Inc

PWS24-0054

installation of new garage door Work Description:

$7150.00$219.871904 ROSEWOOD DRAll Pro Garage Doors
Inc

PWS24-0047

installation of windows and doorsWork Description:

$17336.36$382.69308 OAK STSUNSET VIEW WINDOWS AND
DOORS RYAN BITGOOD

PWS24-0059

window and door replacement impact Work Description:

$37850.00$592.97407 HIBISCUS TRLA BETTER VIEWPWS24-0048

remove 8 existing windows and replace with new impact,
insulated windows

Work Description:

$25000.00$461.25311 HIBISCUS TRLNobili Brothers
Contractors, Inc.

PWS24-0057

Window and door replacements impact Work Description:

$4900.00$151.21307 FIFTH AVEA BETTER VIEWPWS24-0051

Install Hurricane shuttersWork Description:

$9970.00$306.58208 ELM AVEAFFORABLE GLASS
PROTECTION 

PWS24-0049

3 windows 0 doorsWork Description:

$7397.00$227.46411 AVENUE ANewsouth Window
Solutions

PWS24-0056

removing existing windows and sliding glass door, replace with
new impact insulated.

Work Description:

$23950.00$450.49201 FIFTH AVENobili Brothers
Contractors, Inc.

PWS24-0055

Total Permits For Type: 9
Total Fees For Type: $2992.45

Total Const. Value For Type: $140053.36

120



Grand Total Fees: $14,222.99

Grand Total Permits: 52.00
Grand Total Const. Value: $697128.13

121



Permit List

Permit AddressType Applicant Issued Expired Paid

07/02/2024
1/2

$307.50402 SURF RD 12/15/20206/18/202GROUNDED BUILDS BREVARD,
LLC

Res BuildingPRB24-0022

$79.00300 SURF RD 12/23/20206/26/202KOLLEN, GLENNMechanicalPM24-0055
$820.00526 SUNSET BLVD. 12/23/20206/10/202GROUNDED BUILDS BREVARD,

LLC
Accessory StructurePAS24-0006

$717.50536 SUNSET BLVD 12/23/20206/26/202PORTER,BENJAMIN CORY AND
PORTER, ANNA NEVIUS

Res BuildingPRB24-0023

$143.59203 SIXTH AVE 12 12/10/20206/13/202UNIVERSAL CONTRACTING
AND CONSTRUCTION

Paver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0014

$79.00445 SANDY KY 12/10/20206/10/202GANARY, DEREKFencePF24-0020
$199.931906 ROSEWOOD DR 12/03/20206/06/202All Pro Garage Doors IncWindow, Door, and Shutter

Permit
PWS24-0054

$219.871904 ROSEWOOD DR 12/03/20206/06/202All Pro Garage Doors IncWindow, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0047

$310.29391 RIVERVIEW LN 12/23/20206/11/202AAA QUALITY FENCE LLCFencePF24-0018
$137.50396 RIVER VW 12/14/20206/05/202Florida Native Roofing

Inc
ReroofPRR24-0031

$79.00402 POINSETTIA RD 12/24/20206/03/202James W Bruce JrElectricalPE24-0031
$211.871304 PINE ST 12/10/20206/13/202Ralph W DurhamMechanicalPM24-0050
$444.00302 ORANGE ST 12/24/20206/14/202J&M ROOFING LLCReroofPRR24-0033
$0.00507 OCEAN AVE 06/13/202Charles SilvaMechanicalPM24-0051

$1329.06300 OCEAN AVE 12/24/20206/27/202G&G ROOFING CONSTRUCTION
INC
CHEYANNE@CFLROOFING.COM

ReroofPRR24-0038

$176.171202 OAK ST 12/03/20206/06/202Backyard Storage
Solutions LLC

ShedPSH24-0004

$382.69308 OAK ST 12/14/20206/17/202SUNSET VIEW WINDOWS AND
DOORS RYAN BITGOOD

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0059

$143.32103 OAK ST 12/21/20206/18/202WHITLOCK, GARYMechanicalPM24-0046
$363.88602 MANGO DR 12/07/20206/10/202Dave Nielsen LLCPaver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0018
$494.00608 MANGO DR 12/22/20206/25/202Surfside Pavers Inc.Paver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0013
$592.97407 HIBISCUS TRL 12/25/20206/03/202A BETTER VIEWWindow, Door, and Shutter

Permit
PWS24-0048

$312.63320 HIBISCUS TRL 12/21/20206/05/202FLORIDA HIGH AND DRY
ROOFING

ReroofPRR24-0032

$461.25311 HIBISCUS TRL 12/23/20206/21/202Nobili Brothers
Contractors, Inc.

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0057

$151.21307 FIFTH AVE 12/24/20206/04/202A BETTER VIEWWindow, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0051

$121.00214 ELM AVE 12/22/20206/10/202LERVOLD, MICHAEL
LERVOLD, JENNIFER

Paver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0019

$306.58208 ELM AVE 12/02/20206/05/202AFFORABLE GLASS
PROTECTION 

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0049

$191.46218 DOGWOOD AVE 12/21/20206/07/202FENCE OUTLET INCFencePF24-0019

122



Permit List

Permit AddressType Applicant Issued Expired Paid

07/02/2024
2/2

$307.50209 CHERRY DR 12/10/20206/13/202FOUNDATION REPAIR
SERVICES

MiscellaneousPMC24-0009

$408.98209 CHERRY DR 12/22/20206/18/202ROC ROOFING INCReroofPRR24-0036
$0.001908 CEDAR LANE 12/23/20206/25/202JACKSON, WILLIAMAccessory StructurePAS24-0005

$353.44510 BANYAN WAY 12/11/20206/14/202LYONS, TRAVISMechanicalPM24-0052
$402.38312 BANYAN WAY 12/18/20206/05/202BANAPOUR, MAYPaver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0017
$79.00418 AVENUE B 12/23/20206/26/202HARPER, DANIELPlumbingPP24-0016
$227.46411 AVENUE A 12/08/20206/11/202Newsouth Window

Solutions
Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0056

$264.912050 ATLANTIC ST 312 12/24/20206/07/202Gregory L VermettMechanicalPM24-0047
$79.002105 ATLANTIC ST 611 12/18/20206/06/202Miller, EvanElectricalPE24-0032
$262.921607 ATLANTIC ST 12/04/20206/07/202HECK, JAMES & TIAElectricalPE24-0030
$229.001606 ATLANTIC ST 3 12/21/20206/24/202Miller, EvanElectricalPE24-0035
$471.501503 ATLANTIC ST A 12/03/20206/06/202TODD THOMAS HOME

IMPROVEMENTS
Paver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0015

$115.85901 ATLANTIC ST 12/24/20206/24/202Patterson, AlanFencePF24-0022
$374.07521 ANDREWS DR 12/15/20206/18/202HEART ROOFING INCReroofPRR24-0035
$388.07403 ANDREWS DR 12/11/20206/14/202RALPH CARPENTER ROOFING

INC
ReroofPRR24-0034

$0.00302 SIXTH AVE 06/07/202BIG KAHUNA TIKI HUTSMiscellaneousPMC24-0007
$0.00223 SIXTH AVE 12/01/20206/04/202STEPHEN MCANALLYPlumbingPP24-0015
$94.00200 SIXTH AVE 12/11/20206/14/202HOBGOOD, CORTNEYPaver, Concrete, & DeckPCD24-0020
$0.00207 FIFTH AVE 12/16/20206/19/202BLUESTREAK JONATHAN RIOSCom BuildingPCB24-0005

$450.49201 FIFTH AVE 12/16/20206/13/202Nobili Brothers
Contractors, Inc.

Window, Door, and Shutter
Permit

PWS24-0055

$212.18201 FOURTH AVE A 12/29/20206/19/202KRISTOPHER MOOREMechanicalPM24-0054
$146.64404 THIRD AVE 12/07/20206/10/202HECK, JAMES & TIAElectricalPE24-0033
$93.40412 SECOND AVE 12/18/20206/19/202PETER FURROWElectricalPE24-0034
$307.50401 SECOND AVE 12/29/20206/26/202HASTINGS ROOFING

SERVICE, INC CODY
HASTINGS

ReroofPRR24-0037

$179.43305 SECOND AVE 12/11/20206/14/202Kristin N KellyMechanicalPM24-0048

$14222.99

52

Total Paid:

Total Permits:

123



1/2

07/02/2024Inspection Totals

BTR FIRE 3

Deadmen & Tiebacks 1

Deck 3

Dry-In 4

Drywall 4

Electrical 15

Equipotential 2

Erosion Control 2

Final 11

Final 1

Final Building 3

Final Fence 5

Final Mechanical 9

Final Paver, Concrete, & Deck 4

Final Plumbing 3

Final Pool Resurface 1

Final Seawall 1

Final Window, Door, & Shutter 10

Fire Inspection 1

Footer 1

124



2/2

07/02/2024Inspection Totals

Framing 1

In Progress 4

In Progress - Window 2

In-Progress 9

Insulation 1

Pan 1

Plumbing Underground 1

Pre Pour 1

Rough - Electric 1

Rough Electrical 4

Rough Mechanical 1

Rough Plumbing 6

Screw 2

SCREW 1

Steel & Ground 4

Truss, Bracing & Strapping 1

Underground Plumbing 3

Total # of Inspections: 127

125



HolderProperty Address Certificate Type Status IssuedCertificate # Expires Amount Due

Certificate List
1/1

07/11/2024

304 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0003 01/11/2024 01/11/2025Vacation Rental SAMMELMAN, MARK T

510 BANYAN WAY Issued $0.00CVR23-0007 08/02/2023 08/02/2024Vacation Rental MCGRATH, JEFFREY

400 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0011 08/31/2023 08/31/2024Vacation Rental KERR, JOHN

527 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0015 11/08/2023 11/08/2024Vacation Rental SEIDEL, BRIAN R

217 FOURTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0016 10/17/2023 10/17/2024Vacation Rental FOURTH AVENUE LLC

228 6TH AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0019 10/26/2023 10/26/2024Vacation Rental WELLENS, DOUGLAS M

212 DOGWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0020 10/27/2023 10/27/2024Vacation Rental DEAN LAGALA

317 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0021 10/24/2023 10/24/2024Vacation Rental LESINSKI, ZACH

1905 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0022 10/30/2023 10/30/2024Vacation Rental ATLANTIC SURFSIDE, LLC

411 OAK ST Issued $0.00CVR23-0023 11/14/2023 11/14/2024Vacation Rental MOLINA OAK LLC

315 AVENUE B Issued $0.00CVR23-0024 11/06/2023 11/06/2024Vacation Rental KOGOK, RONALD C,JR

2201 REDWOOD AVE Issued $0.00CVR23-0025 11/21/2023 11/21/2024Vacation Rental NEWTON, SHEILA D

308 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0001 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

NOBLE, LINDA S

311 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0002 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

JEPPSON, RICHARD C

322 3RD AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0003 01/10/2024 12/31/2024Owner Occupied
Exempt

BARTON, JOYCE

205 SURF RD Issued $0.00CVR24-0004 03/12/2024 03/12/2025Vacation Rental BLESSED IN THE SON LLC

312 SECOND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0005 03/01/2024 03/01/2025Vacation Rental HENSEL, KURT

209 FIRST AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0006 03/04/2024 03/04/2025Vacation Rental KERR, HOWARD, DIANE

320 2ND AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0007 02/27/2024 02/27/2025Vacation Rental WAGNER, CHRISTOPHER
WAGNER, KIM 

301 OAK ST Issued $0.00CVR24-0008 04/23/2024 04/23/2025Vacation Rental BOCA COVE HIGHLAND
BEACH LLC

300 THIRD AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0009 04/18/2024 06/05/2025Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES

405 FIFTH AVE Issued $0.00CVR24-0010 04/18/2024 06/05/2025Vacation Rental GNK PROPERTIES LLC

415 HIBISCUS TRL Issued $0.00CVR24-0014 05/29/2024 06/12/2025Vacation Rental GOSSELIN, JAKE

311 AVENUE A Issued $0.00CVR24-0015 05/21/2024 06/09/2025Vacation Rental K5 INVESTMENT GROUP LLC

211 CHERRY DR Issued $0.00CVR24-0016 07/03/2024 07/03/2025Vacation Rental BEACH HOST, LLC SEDENO,
SELENE

Total Amount Due:

Total # of Certificates: 25

$0.00

126

ACTIVE REGISTERED VACATION RENTALS 7/11/2024



ClosedCategory Status FiledAddressEnforcement #

Enforcement List
1/1

07/11/2024

Origin

ECE23-0192 323 AVENUE A 09/21/23Open - Second Letter
Certified Mail

Attractive Nuisance Staff

ECE23-0193 409 THIRD AVE 09/21/23Open - First Letter
Sent

Attractive Nuisance Staff

ECE23-0201 302 ORANGE ST 11/14/23Open - Court
Magistrate

Building Permit Violation Staff

ECE23-0206 200 OCEAN AVE STE 203 12/18/23Open - First Letter
Sent

Business Tax Staff

ECE24-0214 387 RIVER VIEW LN 04/01/24Open - First Letter
Sent

Short Term Rental
Violations

ECE24-0220 206 FLAMINGO LN 06/18/24Open - First Letter
Sent

Trailers, Boats, and
Recreational Vehicles

Staff

Total # of Enforcements: 6

127

ECE23-0192: Lawn overgrown, no response from property owner.

ECE23-0193: Preparing to condemn structure through Unsafe Building Abatement process.

ECE23-0201: Fines accruing daily.

ECE23-0206: Business invoiced for BTR and late penalties.

ECE24-0214: Property owners filed VR application, in process.

ECE24-0220: Working with occupant to come into compliance.

OPEN ENFORCEMENTS JUNE 2024



ClosedCategory Status FiledAddressEnforcement #

Enforcement List
1/1

07/11/2024

Origin

ECE24-0219 411 HIBISCUS TRL 05/29/24Closed - Complied 06/18/24Lighting Violations Public - Phone

Total # of Enforcements: 1

128

CLOSED CODE ENFORCEMENTS JUNE 2024



Page 1 of 2 

 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Fire Department 

 

MONTHLY REPORT – June 2024 
 

 
 
Incident Response 

For the month of June 2024, the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department 

responded to 12 calls for service.  The average number of responding volunteer 

personnel per paged out call for the month was 9. 

 

Breakdown: 

• 8 Fire/Rescue 911 Calls (Paged out) 

• 1 Coverage/Standby Assignment (PineappleMan Triathlon) 

• 1 Lockout 

• 1 EMS Call (First Aid) 

• 1 Public Assist 

 

Department Membership 

• 1 Fire Chief (Full-Time) 

• 1 Maintenance Technician (Part-Time) 

• 18 Certified Volunteer Firefighters 

• 5 Support Services Volunteers 

• 4 Probationary Members 

• 4 Administrative Volunteers 

• 1 Volunteer Fire Chaplain  

 

Notable Incidents 

• 6/2/24 – Assist BCSO with victim recovery in 4000 Blk of Hwy A1A. 

• 6/27/24 – Electrical hazard and grass fire in 300 blk of Beau Jean Avenue caused by live 
downed powerline.  Electrical grid shut down and hotspots from fire extinguished.  Scene 
turned over to FPL for electrical line repair. 

129



Page 2 of 2 

 

Volunteer Recruitment 

 

The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department is currently recruiting local men and 
women who have a desire to serve our community.  No experience is needed and all 
training will be provided.  Our next new hire orientation is tentatively scheduled for July 30th.  
For more information, visit MBVFD.com/recruitment, MakeMeAFirefighter.org, or email us at 
FireTraining@MelbourneBeachFL.org. 
 

 

Notable Events & Updates 

 
Multi-Agency Aviation Awareness Training – Along with the Indialantic and Indian 
Harbour Beach Fire Departments, the Melbourne Beach Fire Department participated in a 
multi-agency aviation training event at Hoover Middle School.  Aviation units from BCSO, 
FWC, and Health First were invited to come present on how to best work together with their 
air assets for multi-agency rescue incidents.  The Training was cut short due to inclement 
weather, but overall it was still a great educational opportunity for all involved.  
 
UCF REACT Peer Support Training - 3 Department Volunteers, along with Fire Chaplain 
Diamond and Chief Brown, attended a 1 day REACT Peer Support training event hosted by 
the Palm Bay Fire Department and taught by the UCF Restores team.  The training focused 
on first responder mental health and how to recognize potential stressors and warning signs 
of individuals expiring unmanaged stress.  Thank you to UCF Restores and Palm Bay Fire 
Department for putting on and covering the expenses of a great training. 
    
New Marine Vessel Update - As presented in last month’s regular Town Commission 
Meeting, The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Firefighters Association purchased a new vessel 
for the Department’s Marine Rescue Division.  The new boat has significantly better 
technology and many improvements that will allow the Fire Department to better serve the 
community in times of need.  Training has been taking place to familiarize the Department’s 
current marine rescue equipment operators with the new vessel.  In addition, the 
Department will be hosting a Marine Standards Course later this year to train new 
volunteers how to respond to water based emergencies.  The new vessel was on display for 
the community to see at the Firefighters Association 4th of July in the Park event, and it will 
be officially placed into service sometime in July. 
 
PineappleMan Triathlon Coverage - The Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department 
provided traffic control and standby first aid and water rescue coverage for the Rotary’s 38th 
annual PineappleMan Triathlon event in Melbourne Beach.  The event was well attended 
and no major incidents occurred. 
 
Volunteer Beach Ambassador Program Update – The program was initially targeted to 
start at the beginning of June 2024.  The rollout has been slightly delayed, and has been 
pushed back temporality to allow for the development of program policies, procedures, and 
a training curriculum.  The Fire Department continues to work with DrownZero International 
as well as other local non-governmental organizations to procure funding and equipment for 
the program.  
 
Misc. Updates - Chief Brown attended a regional Marine Intel Meeting hosted by the Florida 
Fish & Wildlife Commission and a swiftwater/floodwater awareness training course hosted 
by the Space Coast Fire Chiefs Association. 

130



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 7/12/2024 12:28:18 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Incident Address and Type for Date Range (Landscape)

INCIDENT # DATE LOCATION 
TYPE ADDRESS INCIDENT TYPE ALARM CLEARED

SCENE
2024-57 06/01/2024  201 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 06/01/2024 16:00 06/01/2024 16:10

2024-58 06/02/2024  507 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Cover assignment, standby, moveup 06/02/2024 06:10 06/02/2024 10:33

2024-59 06/02/2024 4005 Highway A1A HWY , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Assist police or other governmental agency 06/02/2024 20:30 06/02/2024 21:24

2024-60 06/04/2024 302 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Lock-out 06/04/2024 18:32 06/04/2024 18:45

2024-61 06/06/2024 507 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Emergency medical service, other 06/06/2024 19:06 06/06/2024 19:30

2024-62 06/07/2024 404 Sixth AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 06/07/2024 13:45 06/07/2024 13:55

2024-63 06/07/2024 405 Atlantic ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional 06/07/2024 13:53 06/07/2024 13:58

2024-64 06/22/2024 1005 Highway A1A , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Heat detector activation due to malfunction 06/22/2024 11:40 06/22/2024 11:57

2024-65 06/22/2024 2700 N Riverside DR , Indialantic, FL, 32903 Search for person in water 06/22/2024 18:15 06/22/2024 18:19

2024-67 06/25/2024 1801 Redwood AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Animal problem 06/25/2024 11:47 06/25/2024 12:05

2024-68 06/25/2024 228 Sixth AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Arcing, shorted electrical equipment 06/25/2024 14:17 06/25/2024 16:01

2024-69 06/27/2024 303 Beau Jean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Grass fire 06/27/2024 18:25 06/27/2024 19:13

Incident Status(s): All Incident Statuses | Start Date: 06/01/2024 | End Date: 06/30/2024

Doc Id: 1251
emergencyreporting.com

Location Type is only filled in when it is marked Intersection, Directions, or National Grid on Basic Info 3.

Page # 1 of 1

131



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 7/12/2024 12:29:21 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Personnel Count per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT NUMBER OF PEOPLE

NUMBER DATE INCIDENT TYPE FDID ON 
APPARATUS

NOT ON 
APPARATUS TOTAL

2024-57 6/1/2024 16:00:09 745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 19112 4 5 9

2024-58 6/2/2024 06:10:49 571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 19112 5 12 17

2024-59 6/2/2024 20:30:24 551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 19112 8 4 12

2024-60 6/4/2024 18:32:30 511 - Lock-out 19112 1 0 1

2024-61 6/6/2024 19:06:31 320 - Emergency medical service, other 19112 4 0 4

2024-62 6/7/2024 13:45:41 735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 19112 5 6 11

2024-63 6/7/2024 13:53:23 743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional 19112 4 7 11

2024-64 6/22/2024 11:40:27 734 - Heat detector activation due to malfunction 19112 1 5 6

2024-65 6/22/2024 18:15:11 342 - Search for person in water 19112 1 6 7

2024-67 6/25/2024 11:47:37 541 - Animal problem 19112 2 0 2

2024-68 6/25/2024 14:17:46 445 - Arcing, shorted electrical equipment 19112 5 0 5

2024-69 6/27/2024 18:25:52 143 - Grass fire 19112 6 3 9

TOTAL # OF INCIDENTS: 12 AVERAGES: 3.8 4.0 7.8

Start Date: 06/01/2024 | End Date: 06/30/2024

Doc Id: 358
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included

Page # 1 of 1

**

**

**
**
**
**

**
**

** Without EMS Assist or Service Calls:                   4.3               4.5             8.8       Total # of incidents 
      paged out for 
volunteer response: 8

132



 

  

Monthly Report Page 1 
 

   
 

Operations:  

In June 2024, the department responded to 1658 calls for service and 42 house checks.   

Activity: 

 92 Citations/ 23 Written Warning 

 464 Traffic Stops  

 211 Traffic Enforcement Details 

 4 Traffic Complaint 

 14 Parking Citations 

 We removed the radar trailer off Riverside Dr. for 2 weeks and will place it back out there this week.  Atlantic 

St. is our hot spot and we will continue to enforce the speed limit.  We will also continue to give attention to all 

of our roads and streets within our town to maintain visability and remind our citizens to follow the speed limit. 

 PD News 

 Attended the Florida Police Chief’s Association Conference in June. 

 Swore in our new Officer Edgar Rivera. 

 Attended the Grand Opening of the Brevard County EOC building. 

 Had meeting to look at starting a mental wellness program. 

 Attended a meeting about our crocidile in Brevard County.  

 Attended the Air B & B disussion with the Commission and Town Attorney. 

 Attended the Change of Command ceremony at Patrick Airforce Base for the 45th Security 

Squadron. 

 Provided assistance with the Town’s Pineappleman Event  

 Reclassified Lt. Matt Smith to Deputy Chief. 

CRIME Update: 

 Kilo and a half of cocaine located on the beach hiding behind a sand dune as well as other drugs 

confiscated on traffic stops throughout the month. 

 4 Domestic Calls for service 

Melbourne Beach Police Department  

Chief Zander’s Monthly Report 

June 2024 

133



Monthly Report Page 2 
 

 Several arrests 

o 1  Domestiv Violence 

o 4  Traffic realted 

  7 Assist other Law enforcement agencies 

 1 Death Investigation- Medical Issues 

 

 

 

134



 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

 

Town Clerk Report 
 

 

Records Management Project/ Scanning Project – The scanning portion of the project is 

almost complete.  

 

New Town Website Project – Granicus is building the new website. 

     

Meetings – Continue to meet bi-weekly with Granicus about the new town website. Schedule 

meetings as needed with MCCi regarding the records management project. Attended a Mastering 

Records Management class. Attended the Florida Association of City Clerks Summer Academy 

and Conference.  

 

Town Meetings – Prepared agendas and minutes and attended the Town Commission Workshop 

Meeting and the Regular Town Commission Meeting. Prepared for the Environmental Advisory 

Board, Parks Board, and the Ryckman House Historical Preservation and Awareness Board 

Meetings. 

 

Elections – The Town of Melbourne Beach will conduct a Municipal Election in conjunction 

with the November 5th General Election for the purpose of electing two at-large Commissioners 

for a three-year term.  

 

 

135



Regular Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Public Hearings  

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 

From:   Ryan Knight Town Attorney 

Re:   Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds – Second Reading 

Background Information: 
 
During the June 19, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting the Town Commission approved Ordinance 
2024-01 sheds – first reading. 
 
A new Utility Shed Ordinance was presented to Planning and Zoning on February 6, 2024, at which time, 
P&Z made changes to the language provided by the Building Official 
 
The new Utility Shed Ordinance was presented to the Town Commission on February 21, 2024, along 
with, the recommendations from Planning and Zoning.  The Town Commission voted to approve the 
language as presented below 
 
  160 square feet 
  11.6 feet total above grade inclusive of the base.   
  Substantially screened by a vegetative barrier or fence. 
  Utility Sheds behind the front building line. 
  Roofline must be 5 feet off the property line, 
  There shall be not be any water hooked up to the utility shed. 
 
The Utility Shed Ordinance came back to Planning and Zoning on March 5, 2024, with the 
recommendations from the Town Commission.  The Planning and Zoning Board amended their language 
to reflect the following changes: 
 
  140 square feet 
  Utility sheds behind the rear of the front building line and behind the building  
  Line of the side of any structure abutting any street with a 2-foot setback.  
 
The new Utility Shed Ordinance was presented to the Town Commission on March 20, 2024, along with, 
the recommendations from Planning and Zoning Board.  The Town Commission voted to table the item 
and requested the Building Official and Planning and Zoning Board provide options and visual diagrams. 
 
During the April 17, 2024, Regular Town Commission Meeting the Town Commission requested an 
Ordinance be prepared based on the Planning and Zoning recommendations with a few modifications. 
 
During the May 15, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting Ordinance 2024-01 Sheds was presented 
for the first reading. The Town Commission did not have a quorum to vote on this agenda item. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Consider approving Ordinance 2024-01. 
 
Attachments:  Ordinance 2024-01 
 
 

136



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES 

OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 

CODE; AMENDING SECTION 7A-57 RELATING TO 

UTILITY SHEDS AND SETBACK REQUIREMENTS; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 

CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SERVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach desires to amend the Land Development Code 

of the Town of Melbourne Beach regarding accessory structures and, specifically, utility sheds; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission, after duly noticed public hearings, has determined 

that the amendments to Section 7A-57 of the Land Development Code proposed in this Ordinance 

will provide for the improved regulation of utility sheds in the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission, after duly noticed public hearings, has determined 

that the amendments to Section 7A-57 of the Land Development Code proposed in this Ordinance 

are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, are in the best interest of its citizens, and promote the 

general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on June ___, 2024, the Planning and Zoning Board/Local Planning Agency 

(collectively the “LPA”) at a duly noticed public hearing, reviewed and considered the proposed 

amendments to Section 7A-57 of the Land Development Code and took public comment regarding 

the same; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the LPA has determined that the proposed amendments to Section 7A-57 of 

the Land Development Code are consistent with the Town’s Comprehensive Plan and are in the 

best interest of the Town of Melbourne Beach and recommended that the Town Commission 

approve of the same. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

FLORIDA: 

 

NOTE:  Underlined words constitute additions to the Town of Melbourne Beach 

Code of Ordinances, strikethrough constitutes deletions from the original Code of Ordinances, and 

asterisks (***) indicate an omission from the existing text which is intended to remain unchanged. 

 

 Section 1. The findings set forth in the recitals above are adopted and fully incorporated 

herein as legislative findings of the Town Commission pertaining to this Ordinance. 

 

137



 Section 2. Section 7A-57 of Appendix “A,” of the Town Code of the Town of Melbourne 

Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 

§ 7A-57. Accessory Structures. 

 

(a) (1)  No accessory structure shall be erected in any front yard. Unless specifically defined in this 

chapter, no accessory structure shall be erected in any side yard. Except as otherwise provided 

by this chapter, no accessory structure shall exceed the height of the main structure. Unless 

specifically allowed in this chapter, no accessory structure other than a utility shed shall be 

constructed within 15 feet of any lot line. 

 

      (2)  Accessory structures may be constructed simultaneously with, or following the 

construction of the main building and shall not be used until after the principal structure has been 

fully erected. Erection of tents as accessory structures is prohibited. No home occupation or 

business may be conducted in any accessory structure. No accessory structure which contains 

living quarters shall be constructed on any lot. 

 

(b) Accessory buildings erected on lots fronting on two streets shall conform to main structure 

setbacks for the rear yard. 

 

(c) Trailers may be used for the storage of equipment during construction provided such 

trailers are used only during the construction period. A temporary trailer permit shall be required 

for all structures, and shall be renewable every six months. 

 

(d) All utility sheds require a building permit. Utility sheds may not be larger than 120 160 

square feet in floor area and 10 ½ 11.6 feet in height. Utility shed foundations should be no higher 

than 8 inches above ground level. Utility sheds shall be substantially screened by a vegetative 

barrier or fence from the front and side streets. Screening shall be accomplished through 

landscaping, fencing or a combination of the two. Utility sheds must be behind the rear of the front 

line of the principal structure. On any corner lot, the shed must be both behind the rear of the front 

line of the principal structure and behind the building line of the side of any structure abutting any 

street with a 2 feet setback. Utility sheds are limited to one shed per 10,000 square feet of lot area 

address. Utility sheds may be placed on the side or rear property line. The roof line has to be within 

the lot line of the property line. No water hook to the utility shed is permitted. 

 

* * * 

 

Section 3. Codification. The provisions of this Ordinance shall be included and 

incorporated into the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Melbourne Beach, as additions or 

amendments thereto. 

 

Section 4. Grandfathering. It is the intent of this Ordinance to apply prospectively. Any 

utility sheds already in existence at the time of the adoption of this Ordinance shall be deemed to 

comply with the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

138



Section 5. Severability. Should any word, phrase, sentence, subsection, or section be held 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, or unconstitutional, then 

that word, phrase, sentence, subsection, or section so held shall be severed from this Ordinance 

and all other words, phrases, sentences, subsections, or sections shall remain in full force and 

effect. 

 

Section 6. Conflicting Ordinances. All ordinances or part thereof, in conflict herewith are, 

to the extent of such conflict, repealed. 

 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its 

passage and adoption. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ________________, 2024, by the Town 

Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida. 

 

PASSED ON FIRST READING: ___________________ 

 

PASSED ON SECOND READING: ___________________ 

 

       

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

 

      By:________________________ 

      ALISON DENNINGTON, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

      (TOWN SEAL) 

______________________ 

Amber Brown, Town Clerk 

139



1 
 

 

Business Impact Estimate 

This form should be included in the agenda packet for the item under which the proposed 
ordinance is to be considered and must be posted on the Town of Melbourne Beach website by 
the time notice of the proposed ordinance is published. 
 

ORDINANCE 2024-01 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; AMENDING SECTION 7A-57 RELATING TO 
UTILITY SHEDS AND SETBACK REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
This Business Impact Estimate is provided in accordance with section 166.041(4), Florida 
Statutes. If one or more boxes are checked below, this means the Town of Melbourne 
Beach is of the view that a business impact estimate is not required by state law1 for the 
proposed ordinance, but the Town of Melbourne Beach is, nevertheless, providing this 
Business Impact Estimate as a courtesy and to avoid any procedural issues that could 
impact the enactment of the proposed ordinance. This Business Impact Estimate may be 
revised following its initial posting. 

☐  The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or 
regulation; 

☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget 

amendments, including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 
☐  The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, 

including, but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant or other 
financial assistance accepted by the municipal government; 

☐  The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 
☐  The ordinance relates to procurement; or 
                                                           
1 See Section 166.041(4)(c), Florida Statutes. 

140



2 
 

☐  The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 
a. Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and 

municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, 
development orders, development agreements and development permits; 

b. Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

c. Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
d. Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 

 
In accordance with the provisions of controlling law, even notwithstanding the fact that an 
exemption noted above may apply, the Town of Melbourne Beach hereby publishes the 
following information: 
 
1. Summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the public purpose, 
such as serving the public health, safety, morals and welfare): 
 
The ordinance amends Appendix “A” the Land Development Code Section 7A-57 
accessory structures specifically utility sheds and setback requirements.  
 
 
2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on private, for-
profit businesses in the Town of Melbourne Beach, if any: 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may reasonably incur; 
(b) Any new charge or fee imposed by the proposed ordinance or for which businesses 
will be financially responsible; and 
(c) An estimate of the Town of Melbourne Beach’s regulatory costs, including estimated 
revenues from any new charges or fees to cover such costs. 
 
There are no direct compliance costs that businesses may incur, no new charges or fees 
imposed by the ordinance, and no regulatory costs to the Town. 
 
 
3. Good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by the proposed 
ordinance: 
 
This ordinance would be applicable to all businesses within the Town, but would have a 
negligible impact. 
 
 
4. Additional information the governing body deems useful (if any): 
 
The proposed ordinance is a generally applicable ordinance that applies to all persons 
similarly situated (individuals as well as businesses) and, therefore, the proposed 
ordinance does not affect only businesses.  
 
  

141



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Unfinished Business  

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Paving and Curb Project Riverside Drive 

 

Background Information: 

The paving and curb project on Riverside Drive, is presented again to the Commission for 

approval. 

Previously Goodson Paving had the lowest County Contract price to complete the paving. Don 

Bo, Inc. was to complete the curb work.  Logistically having one company replace the curbing and 

a different company pave was not ideal and presented several issues. Scott Glaubitz from BSE 

Engineering, the Building Official and I walked all of Riverside Drive to determine what curb work 

should to be replaced. The curbs requiring removal and replacement have been marked in yellow. 

Goodson Paving updated their proposal price based on the updated linear feet requiring removal 

and replacement. 

Goodson Paving provided a third proposal for both the paving and the curb work. The revised 

proposal is $340,154.70, which is $143,866.50 less than having Goodson, pave and Don Bo, Inc. 

replace the curbs. The prior quote was as follows: 

Don Bo curb work: $221,288.00 Goodson Paving: paving and curbs: $340,154.70 
Goodson paving:    $262,733.20                                 Previous proposal:  $484,021.20 
                               $484,021.20           Savings:  $143,866.50 
 

Recommendation:  

Approve the proposal from Goodson Paving dated July 9, 2024 for $340,154.70 to pave Riverside 

Drive and replace the Miami curbs where indicated. 

Attachments:   

Goodson Paving Proposals (3) 

Don Bo., Inc. Proposal (1) 

Request to Bid (3) 

Riverside Drive Plans provided by BSE (10) 

Boring Location Report (10 pages) 

Brevard County Contract and Requirements (48 pages) 

Notice of Award Brevard County and Tabulation (10 pages) 

142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   Unfinished Business 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re: Discussion Regarding Failed Ordinance 2024-03 “Camping Prohibited”  

 

Background Information: 

During the June 19, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting Ordinance 2024-03 Camping 

Prohibited failed due to a lack of motion.  

During the May 15, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting the Town Commission approved 

the first reading of the Ordinance with one change to prohibit camping on all properties for any 

amount of time in the Town. 

During the April 17, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting the Town Commission requested 

the ordinance prohibit camping on all properties in the Town. 

During the March 20, 2024 Regular Town Commission Meeting the Town Commission asked me 

to prepare an Ordinance that prohibits individuals from camping for extended periods of time on 

residentially-zoned properties in neighboring municipalities.  Our Ordinance would prohibit 

camping on all property in the Town used for residential purposes for more than 72 consecutive 

hours in a 30-day period. 

 

Recommendation:  

Discuss options to prohibit camping. 

 

 

 

Attachments:   

Failed Ordinance 2024-03 

 

241



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CREATING 

CHAPTER 73-20, “CAMPING PROHIBITED,” IN THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR DEFINITIONS 

AND EXCEPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 

PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 

SERVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach has the authority under Article VIII, Section 

2(b), of the Florida Constitution and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, to exercise any power for 

municipal purposes, except where prohibited by law, and to adopt ordinances in furtherance of 

such authority; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission is aware of issues regarding individuals camping for 

extended periods of time on residentially-zoned and commercially-zoned properties in neighboring 

municipalities; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission desires to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the 

residents of the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission finds the adoption of this Ordinance to be in the best 

interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

FLORIDA: 

 

NOTE:  Underlined words constitute additions to the Town of Melbourne Beach 

Code of Ordinances, strikethrough constitutes deletions from the original Code of Ordinances, and 

asterisks (***) indicate an omission from the existing text which is intended to remain unchanged. 

 

 Section 1. The findings set forth in the recitals above are adopted and fully incorporated 

herein as legislative findings of the Town Commission pertaining to this Ordinance. 

 

 Section 2. Chapter 73-20, “Camping Prohibited,” is hereby created and reads as follows: 

 

§ 73-20. CAMPING PROHIBITED 

 

(a) For purposes of this section, “camping” is defined as: 

 

(1) Sleeping or otherwise being in a temporary shelter out-of-doors, including but not 

limited to tents, sleeping bags, bedroll, or blankets; or 

 

(2) Sleeping out-of-doors or sleeping in non-permitted structures; or 

242



 

 

 

(3) Cooking over an open flame or fire out-of-doors except small, self-contained, 

commercially available heating devices not requiring any special facilities to be safely 

operated. 

 

(b) Camping is prohibited on all property within the Town limits. 

 

(c) In the event of an emergency, the Town Manager may waive subsection (c). 

 

Section 3. Codification. The provisions of this Ordinance shall be included and 

incorporated into the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Melbourne Beach, as additions or 

amendments thereto. 

 

Section 4. Severability. Should any word, phrase, sentence, subsection, or section be held 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void, unenforceable, or unconstitutional, then 

that word, phrase, sentence, subsection, or section so held shall be severed from this Ordinance 

and all other words, phrases, sentences, subsections, or sections shall remain in full force and 

effect. 

 

Section 5. Conflicting Ordinances. All ordinances or part thereof, in conflict herewith are, 

to the extent of such conflict, repealed. 

 

Section 6. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its 

passage and adoption. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ________________, 2024, by the Town 

Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida. 

 

PASSED ON FIRST READING: ___________________ 

 

PASSED ON SECOND READING: ___________________ 

 

       

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

 

      By:________________________ 

      ALISON DENNINGTON, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

      (TOWN SEAL) 

______________________ 

Amber Brown, Town Clerk 

243



Regular Town Commission Meeting Agenda    

 

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024  

Subject: Interlocal Agreement – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll    

Submitted By:  Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

 

Background Information 
 
Brevard County Board of County Commissioners has provided an updated Interlocal Agreement 
for the Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll. The Interlocal Agreement allows the County to 
include the Town’s stormwater assessment billing amounts with its data that is transmitted to 
the Property Appraiser’s office. The County has increased its cost from $1.00 to $1.40 per billed 
property for administrative services provided by the County. The current Interlocal Agreement 
was last updated on May 4, 2010.  
   

Recommendation:   

Approve the updated Interlocal Agreement for the Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll 

Attachments: 

Interlocal Agreement for the Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll 

244



Page 1 of 5 

 

Interlocal Agreement 

Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll 

This Interlocal Agreement, entered into on the date of the last signature below this ____ day of _____, 

2024, by and between the BREVARD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, a political 

Subdivision of the State of Florida, hereinafter referred to as the “County”, and THE TOWN OF 

MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA,  a municipal corporation created under the Laws of Florida, hereinafter 

referred to as the “Municipality”Town”. 

 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Municipality has adopted the uniform method for the levy, collection, and enforcement of 

the Municipalities annual Stormwater Utility Assessment under Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, and 

the Municipality’s Code of Ordinance.  

WHEREAS, the TownMunicipality has requested the County (through the County’s Information 

Technology Department) to provide the TownMunicipality the necessary information to enable the 

TownMunicipality to prepare the Town’sMunicipality’s annual Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll; and 

WHEREAS, the County is willing to assist the TownMunicipality in providing the requested information; 

and 

WHEREAS, the parties agree that the County will include the Town’sMunicipality’s Stormwater Utility 

Assessment Roll along with the County’s annual Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll when that is 

provided to the Property Appraiser’s Office. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants herein contained, it is mutually 

agreed between the parties as follows: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS AND STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated into this agreement. This agreement 

is an Interlocal Agreement entered into pursuant to Section 163.01, Florida Statutes, the Florida 

Intergovernmental Cooperation Act of 1969, as amended. The parties are authorized to make the 

most efficient use of their respective powers, resources, authority and capabilities by enabling 

them to cooperate on the basis of mutual advantage and thereby provide the facilities and efforts 

provided for herein in the manner that will best utilize existing resources, powers and authority 

available to each of them. 

 

SECTION 2. SERVICES 

1. The County board of County Commissioners, through its Information Technology Department, 

will include the Town’sMunicipality’s stormwater assessment billing amounts with its data that 

is transmitted to the Property Appraiser’s office. 

2. All calculation formulas and billing classifications are detailed in Exhibit 1A attached, as may 

be amended. 

3. If a Municipality intends to enact a stormwater ERU fee increase for the upcoming fiscal year 

or change the process of providing the electronic roll to the Property Appraiser, the 

Municipality shall notify the County of its intent by March 31. The Municipality shall be 

responsible for all public notices required pursuant to Florida Statute.  

245



Page 2 of 5 

 

3.4. A listing of the Town’sMunicipality’s stormwater assessments in account order (SAM), called “ 

SAM Town Stormwater Assessment Roll,” will be provided to the townMunicipality by July 1 of 

each year.  

4.5. A listing of use codes and description by bill class called “SAM Use Code List” will be 

provided to the townMunicipality by July 1 of each year. 

5.6. The Property Appraiser implements land use codes established by the State of Florida 

Department of Revenue. Use codes  may be added, deleted, or combined use codes from 

time to time as necessary. Any future changes in use codes made within the Property 

Appraiser’s database will be incorporated into these tables, as deemed essential by the 

County Manager or his designee. 

6.7. If the Municipality enacts a stormwater ERU fee increase for the upcoming fiscal year, such 

clerk memorandum memorializing the enacted fee increase shall be provided to the County 

by August 30. The Town agrees to provide the billing rate for the given year’s assessment 90 

days prior to requesting the County to provide them with the tax roll report. 

7.8. The non-ad valorem stormwater assessment fee is reliant upon current land use code listing. 

The Municipality must follow the County’s stormwater assessment methodology pursuant to 

Exhibit 1. No changes to data other than the above referenced procedures will be permitted. 

The data is defined by the Property Appraiser and the County’s Stormwater billing 

department. Any inconsistencies in property data must be resolved through the Property 

Appraiser’s office. 

8.9. The County will notify the Municipality if Exhibit 1 is amended within 60 days of the date of 

amendment. County’s Information Technology Department will notify the Town if the above 

referenced calculations, Exhibit A, change in order that the Town can either change to match 

the Board’s changes, or choose to not use the County’s services, at least 90 days prior to 

time to certify the tax roll. 

9. The County agrees to provide the above referenced tax roll reports within two (2) weeks 

of the request received from the Town. In order to make the request, the Town must call the 

County’s Information Technology Department. The report will be provided as an attachment to 

an email, unless other arrangements are agreed to in writing by both parties.  The Town 

agrees to provide a valid email address, with the request for the report. 

10. Both Parties recognize that the Property Appraiser may make changes to the property data 

between the time the SAM Assessment Roll is provided,tax roll reports are created and the 

final tax bills are created, which will likely create differences. If the Municipality desires a 

variance report and/or details, the Municipality shall contact the Property Appraiser’s Office.  

11. The Municipality shall provide a certified copy of their adopted stormwater assessment 

resolution as well as their Certificate to Non-Ad Valorem Assessment Roll (Form DR-408A, as 

may be amended) to the Tax Collector’s Office, Property Appraiser’s Office, and the County 

by August 30 of each year. Failure by the Municipality to provide such resolution and 

certification to the County by August 30 shall result in the County’s inability to include the 

Municipality’s stormwater assessment billing data in the year’s SAM - Tax bill file transmitted 

to the Property Appraiser’s Office.  

10.12. Per F.S. 197.3632(5)(a), the County will provide certification of the non-ad valorem 

assessment rolls on compatible electronic medium to the Tax Collector on or before 

September 15.   

SECTION 3.  ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 

The Town Municipality will pay the County’s Information Technology DepartmentCounty an annual 

amount of $1.00$1.40 per billed property for administrative services provided by the County. The 

per billed property rate will be adjusted in January of each year based on the annual change in 

Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U). Invoicing for the County’s services will 

be on a yearly basis. As used in this Interlocal Agreement, the term “administrative costs” shall 

refer to costs incurred for the services outlined in this Interlocal Agreement.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75",  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 10 pt, Not Highlight

246



Page 3 of 5 

 

The Municipality will pay direct labor and related costs incurred by the County for special services 

pre-approved in scope and budget by the Municipality. These services shall include but are not 

limited to the coordination and documentation required for the Municipality’s potential future 

Stormwater Fee increases. Costs for these services shall be charged an hourly rate, to be 

submitted to and approved by the Municipality, and shall also include associated costs of supplies 

and expenses, and capital equipment. The County will maintain appropriate records in a format 

acceptable to the Municipality to support these charges. In the event of a disagreement by the 

TownMunicipality and County, the TownMunicipality Manager and the County’s Information 

Technology DirectorCounty Manager shall meet and resolve the disagreement. 

 

SECTION 4.  REMITTANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS  

 Administrative costs will be billed yearly and shall be processed for payment within thirty (30) days of 

receipt of invoice, except as otherwise provided in Section 3. 

SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE TOWN MUNICIPALITY  

    The Town Municipality makes the following representations to the County: 

a) The TownMunicipality is duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of 

Florida and is duly qualified and authorized to carry on the governmental functions and 

operations set forth in this Interlocal Agreement. 

b) The TownMunicipality has the power, authority and legal right to enter into and perform the 

obligations set forth in this Interlocal Agreement, and the execution, delivery, and 

performance hereof by the TownMunicipality (i) has been duly authorized by the Town Council 

of Melbourne Beach; (ii) does not constitute a default under,  or result in the creation of any 

lien, charge, encumbrance or security interest upon the assets of the TownMunicipality, 

except as otherwise provided herein. 

c) The townMunicipality is responsible for ensuring that the Town has complied with all 

applicable regulations, Florida sStatutes, local laws, or other laws and regulations  which 

affect the collection of non- ad valorem assessments taxesusing the uniform method of 

collecting such assessment on the tax bill. None of the terms or conditions contained within 

this agreementInterlocal Agreement shall be interpreted or construed to create any duty by 

the County owed to the TownMunicipality to assure compliance with such regulations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATION OF THE COUNTY  

   The County makes the following representations to the Town of Melbourne Beach: 

a) The County is duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of Florida, and 

is duly qualified and authorized to carry on the governmental functions and operations under 

the laws of the State of Florida, and is duly qualified and authorized to carry on the 

governmental functions and operations set forth in this Interlocal Agreement. 

247



Page 4 of 5 

 

b) The County has the power, authority and legal right to enter into this Interlocal Agreement 

and provide the services requested by the TownMunicipality.  The execution, delivery and 

performance hereof by the County (i) has been duly authorized by the Board of County 

Commissioners of Brevard County; and (ii) does not constitute a default under, or result in the 

creation of any lien, charge, encumbrance, or security interest upon the assets of the County, 

except as otherwise provided herein. 

SECTION 7. RECORDS REVIEW 

    It is hereby specifically agreed that any record, document, computerized information and program 

audio or video tape, photograph, or other writing relating to this Interlocal Agreement shall be deemed 

to be a “Public Record,” whether in the possession or control of one of its consultants, as defined in 

Section 119.011, Florida Statutes. Said record, document computerized information and program, audio 

or videotape, photograph, or other writing shall be subject to the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida 

Statutes. Upon request by the TownMunicipality and without posing an exemption to the 

Town’sMunicipality’s rights set forth in Section 119.07(1) , Florida Statutes, the County shall permit 

inspection of the foregoing public records by the TownMunicipality and the TownMunicipality may obtain 

copies of said public records. All books, cards, registers, receipts, documents and other papers in 

connection with this Interlocal Agreement shall at any and all reasonable times during the normal 

working hours of the County be open and freely exhibited by the County for the purpose of examination 

and/or audit by the TownMunicipality. 

SECTION 8. SEVERABILITY  

If any part of this Interlocal Agreement is found invalid, unconstitutional or unenforceable by any court,  

such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the other parts of this Interlocal Agreement if the 

rights and obligations of the parties contained herein are not materially prejudiced and if the intentions 

of the parties can be accomplished. This Interlocal aAgreement shall be enforced and interpreted as if 

such invalid, unenforceable, or unconstitutional provision did not exit. 

SECTION 9. ENTIRETY  

    This Interlocal Agreement, including exhibits, if any, represents the understanding and agreement of 

the parties in its entirety as to the preparation of the information for the Property Appraiser. There shall 

be no amendments to this Interlocal Agreement unless such amendments are in writing, signed by all 

the parties and filed with the Brevard County Clerk of the Circuit Court. The parties recognize there 

may be other interlocal agreements between them relating to other services and issues. 

SECTION 10. Effective Date  

 Upon execution of this Interlocal Agreement by both parties, the County will record the fully executed 

original of this Interlocal Agreement with the Clerk of the Court, supplying the TownMunicipality with a 

recorded copy of the fully executed Inerlocal Agreement. 

 

 

 

SECTION 11. Termination  

 This Interlocal Agreement shall terminate on the earlier of any of the following: 

a) The consent of all parties hereto to terminate this Interlocal Agreement. Either the 

TownMunicipality or County may serve written notice to the other party to terminate the 

contractInterlocal Agreement upon not less than one hundred twenty (120) days’ notice. Should 

248



Page 5 of 5 

 

terminatontermination of the Interlocal aAgreement occur within less than one hundred and 

twenty (120) days’ notice, the TownMunicipality shall be responsible for all outstanding costs as 

permitted by this Interlocal aAgreement; or 

b) A change in Florida Law which renders this Interlocal Agreement void. 

SECTION 12.  LIABILITIES  

 Each party shall be solely responsible for its performance under this Interlocal Agreement, and no 

liability shall inure to the other party from such performance or lack of performance. This provision 

shall not be construed as a waiver of Sovereign Immunity by either party. 

SECTION 13. Governing Law, Venue, Attorney’s Fees and Waiver of Jury Trial   

 The laws of the State of Florida shall govern the validity and interpretation of this Interlocal Agreement. 

Venue shall be in Brevard County. In the event of any legal action to enforce the terms of this Interlocal 

Agreement, each party shall bear his own attorney’s fees and costs and ANY TRIAL SHALL BE NON-

JURY. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals effective on the date of the 

last signature.  and year aforementioned. 

 

ATTEST:                                                       BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS                         

OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

_________________________                   _______________________________________ 

Scott EllisRachel M. Sadoff, Clerk Jason SteeleRobin Fisher, Vice Chairman                                                 

( as approved by the Board on _________) 

 

ATTEST:                                                       TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

_________________________                   _______________________________________ 

Town Clerk Elizabeth Mascaro, Town Manager                                        

( As approved by the Town Council on___________ )     

 

 

Reviewed for Legal form and content: 

 

________________________________      _______________________________________ 

Brevard Assistant County BOCC Attorney         Town Attorney 

249



Regular Town Commission Meeting Agenda    

 

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024  

Subject: Resolution 2024-03 – Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll 
Certification  

Submitted By:  Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

 

Background Information 
 
Resolution 2024-03 adopts the rate for the Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll.   
   

Recommendation:   

Consideration of Resolution 2024-03 

Attachments: 

Proposed Resolution 2024-03 

250



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-03 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH OF 

BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, CERTIFYING THE ANNUAL 

STORMWATER UTILITY ASSESSMENT ROLL FOR THE TOWN OF 

MELBOURNE BEACH STORMWATER UTILITY BUDGET FOR FISCAL 

YEAR 2024/2025; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

WHEREAS, an annual Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll has been prepared; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, is satisfied 

that the annual Stormwater Utility Special Assessment Roll has been prepared in conformity with 

the Schedule of Stormwater Utility Special Assessments adopted by the Town Commission on 

August 16, 2000 (Resolution No. 659, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”); and 

 

WHEREAS, a copy of such annual Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll will be forwarded 

to the Brevard County Tax Collector for collection in the same manner as ad valorem taxes are 

collected. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Commission of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach of Brevard County, Florida, as follows: 
 

Section 1. The Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach hereby certifies, ratifies, 

and confirms that the annual Stormwater Utility Special Assessment Roll for the fiscal year 

beginning October 1, 2024, is in conformity with the Schedule of Stormwater Utility Special 

Assessments adopted by the Town of Melbourne Beach on August 16, 2000 (Resolution No. 

659). 
 

Section 2.  The Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach hereby certifies, ratifies, 

and confirms the annual Stormwater Utility Special Assessment Roll as sent to the Brevard 

County Tax Collector.  The Tax Collector will collect such special assessments in the same 

manner as ad valorem taxes are collected. 
 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Brevard 

County, Florida, at its Town Commission meeting this 17th day of July, 2024. 
 

Time Adopted: __________ p.m. 

 

ATTEST:      TOWN OF MELBOURNCE BEACH 

 

 

_____________________    By: ____________________________ 

Amber Brown             Alison Dennington, Mayor 

Town Clerk 

(TOWN SEAL) 

251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: New Business    

Meeting Date: July 17, 2024  

From: Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro    

RE: Consideration to endorse the HELPER Act      

 

Background Information: 

During the August 16, 2023 Regular Town Commission Meeting, the Town Commission voted to 

endorse legislation to aid first responders known as the HELPER Act.  

The Town has received a request to continue the endorsement. 

 

Recommendation:   

Consider continuing to endorse the HELPER Act 

 

Attachments:   

Email request to continue the endorsement 

Sample letter of endorsement 

261



From: Linda Cullen
To: Linda Cullen
Subject: Sign-On Letter for HELPER Act Markup
Date: Tuesday, June 25, 2024 12:14:04 PM
Attachments: HELPER Markup Letter (Elected Officials).pdf

Hello,  
 
I am writing to thank you for your endorsement of the Homes for Every Local Protector, 
Educator, and Responder (HELPER) Act and to request your continued support in moving 
forward with this crucial legislation.  
 
As you know, the HELPER Act would support police and corrections officers, firefighters, 
EMTs and paramedics, and preK-12 teachers by providing a VA-style home loan program. A 
HELPER loan would provide 100% financing and eliminate monthly mortgage insurance 
payments for a first-time home purchase. This legislation has garnered significant bipartisan 
support and has the potential to make a substantial difference in our communities.  
 
We are seeking your assistance in urging our congressional leaders to advance the HELPER 
Act by formally marking it up in committee. We are organizing a sign-on letter addressed to 
the Chairs and Ranking Members of the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban 
Affairs & the House Financial Services Committee.  
 
I kindly ask for your endorsement by signing onto this letter. Please find the draft letter 
attached for your review. If you agree to sign on, simply reply to this email with your name 
and title as you would like it to appear in the letter by July 8th.  
 
Thank you! 
 
Best,  

Linda Cullen
Government Affairs Coordinator
Commonwealth Strategic Partners

262

mailto:lcullen@commonwealthstrategic.com
mailto:lcullen@commonwealthstrategic.com
https://www.commonwealthstrategic.com/



 
 


The Honorable Sherrod Brown     


Chairman, Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 


U.S. Senate 


Washington, DC 20510 


 


The Honorable Patrick McHenry 


Chairman, House Financial Services Committee 


U.S. House of Representatives 


Washington, DC 20515 


 


The Honorable Tim Scott 


Ranking Member, Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 


U.S. Senate 


Washington, DC 20510 


 


The Honorable Maxine Waters 


Ranking Member, House Financial Services Committee 


U.S. House of Representatives 


Washington, DC 20515 


 


Dear Chairman Brown, Chairman McHenry, Ranking Member Scott, and Ranking Member 


Waters, 


 


We, the undersigned elected officials representing nearly XXX cities, counties, and parishes across 


the United States, write to express our strong support for the bipartisan Homes for Every Local 


Protector, Educator, and Responder (HELPER) Act (S.1514/H.R.3170) and to urge your 


committees to hold a markup on this critical legislation as soon as possible. As of the writing of 


this letter, the HELPER Act is sponsored and cosponsored by 26 members of the Senate and 139 


members of the House of Representatives. This includes five members of the Senate Banking 


Committee and 13 members of the House Financial Services Committee. 
 


Law enforcement officers, firefighters, emergency medical technicians (EMTs), paramedics, and 


teachers, dedicate their lives to safeguarding and nurturing our communities. Yet, despite their 


invaluable contributions, many of these professionals face significant challenges in affording 


homes in the very neighborhoods they serve. Ensuring that these essential workers have access to 


affordable housing is not only a matter of fairness but also a strategic investment in the well-being 


and stability of our communities. 


 


The HELPER Act would establish a much-needed home loan program for first responders and 


educators, modeled after the highly successful Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) home loan 


program. 


 


Specifically, the HELPER Act would: 







 


• Create a first-time homebuyer home loan program under the Federal Housing 


Administration (FHA) for law enforcement officers, firefighters, EMTs, paramedics, and 


pre-K-12 teachers; 


• Eliminate the 3.5% down payment requirement, making homeownership more accessible 


for these public servants; 


• Eliminate the monthly mortgage insurance premium (MIP) requirement, reducing the 


overall cost of homeownership; and  


• Require an upfront mortgage insurance (UFMI) premium, determined by the Secretary of 


Housing and Urban Development, to ensure the solvency of the program. 


 


Investing in affordable housing for law enforcement officers, firefighters, EMTs, paramedics, and 


teachers is an investment in the future of our communities. It ensures that those who protect, serve, 


and educate us can live with dignity and stability. By supporting initiatives like the HELPER Act, 


we can create a more equitable and resilient society where public servants are valued not just for 


their work but also for their integral role in the fabric of our daily lives. 


 


We urge you to prioritize the markup and advancement of the HELPER Act in your respective 


committees. This legislation is not only a testament to our nation's commitment to supporting its 


public servants but also a necessary step in addressing the housing affordability crisis facing many 


first responders and educators. 


 


Thank you for your consideration. 


 


Sincerely, 







 
 

The Honorable Sherrod Brown     

Chairman, Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 

U.S. Senate 

Washington, DC 20510 

 

The Honorable Patrick McHenry 

Chairman, House Financial Services Committee 

U.S. House of Representatives 

Washington, DC 20515 

 

The Honorable Tim Scott 

Ranking Member, Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 

U.S. Senate 

Washington, DC 20510 

 

The Honorable Maxine Waters 

Ranking Member, House Financial Services Committee 

U.S. House of Representatives 

Washington, DC 20515 

 

Dear Chairman Brown, Chairman McHenry, Ranking Member Scott, and Ranking Member 

Waters, 

 

We, the undersigned elected officials representing nearly XXX cities, counties, and parishes across 

the United States, write to express our strong support for the bipartisan Homes for Every Local 

Protector, Educator, and Responder (HELPER) Act (S.1514/H.R.3170) and to urge your 

committees to hold a markup on this critical legislation as soon as possible. As of the writing of 

this letter, the HELPER Act is sponsored and cosponsored by 26 members of the Senate and 139 

members of the House of Representatives. This includes five members of the Senate Banking 

Committee and 13 members of the House Financial Services Committee. 
 

Law enforcement officers, firefighters, emergency medical technicians (EMTs), paramedics, and 

teachers, dedicate their lives to safeguarding and nurturing our communities. Yet, despite their 

invaluable contributions, many of these professionals face significant challenges in affording 

homes in the very neighborhoods they serve. Ensuring that these essential workers have access to 

affordable housing is not only a matter of fairness but also a strategic investment in the well-being 

and stability of our communities. 

 

The HELPER Act would establish a much-needed home loan program for first responders and 

educators, modeled after the highly successful Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) home loan 

program. 

 

Specifically, the HELPER Act would: 

263



 

• Create a first-time homebuyer home loan program under the Federal Housing 

Administration (FHA) for law enforcement officers, firefighters, EMTs, paramedics, and 

pre-K-12 teachers; 

• Eliminate the 3.5% down payment requirement, making homeownership more accessible 

for these public servants; 

• Eliminate the monthly mortgage insurance premium (MIP) requirement, reducing the 

overall cost of homeownership; and  

• Require an upfront mortgage insurance (UFMI) premium, determined by the Secretary of 

Housing and Urban Development, to ensure the solvency of the program. 

 

Investing in affordable housing for law enforcement officers, firefighters, EMTs, paramedics, and 

teachers is an investment in the future of our communities. It ensures that those who protect, serve, 

and educate us can live with dignity and stability. By supporting initiatives like the HELPER Act, 

we can create a more equitable and resilient society where public servants are valued not just for 

their work but also for their integral role in the fabric of our daily lives. 

 

We urge you to prioritize the markup and advancement of the HELPER Act in your respective 

committees. This legislation is not only a testament to our nation's commitment to supporting its 

public servants but also a necessary step in addressing the housing affordability crisis facing many 

first responders and educators. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

264



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: New Business    

Meeting Date: July 17, 2024  

From: Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro    

RE: Consideration to renew the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement   

 

Background Information: 

The Interlocal Agreement regarding voting representation on the Space Coast Transportation 

Planning Organization for the South Beaches Coalition expires on December 31, 2024. 

 

Recommendation:   

Consider renewing the South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement 

 

Attachments:   

Current South Beaches Interlocal Agreement 

265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:     

Meeting Date: July 17,2024  

From: Chief Tim Zander    

RE: Speed camera system in school zone and parking cameras in Town paid parking areas. 

 

Background Information: 

This is a request to seek information and have a traffic study conducted in our school zone to see 

if a speed enforcement camera system is warranted in our town.  These speed enforcement 

cameras are like the red light cameras from years ago.  Florida State Statute was passed this 

past year that allows municipalities to deploy speed cameras in school zones on school days.  

The system would only give citations for over 10mph from 30 minutes before school until 30 

minutes after school.  A study would be conducted at zero cost and would be completed by the 

speed camera company.  Florida State Statutes strictly govern these systems and list everything 

from the fines levied, and the breakdown of those fines and what they can be used for. 

If the traffic study is completed and the system is warranted, we would then return to the 

Commission for approval to move forward with the installation of this system. The systems would 

be installed at zero cost to the Town. 

These companies also have parking enforcement cameras similar to the above.  The technology 

is not as good and many are still developing systems.  We are talking to a company currently and 

are explaining our needs and seeing what they offer and what can be developed.  We would be 

working with the company to be a test agency but are in the development phase and looking to 

seek permission to move forward with this as well. 

 

Recommendation:  It is my recommendation that we speak with companies that have this 

technology, and have one of them conduct a traffic study free of cost to the Town.  If the study 

reveals the need, we would return to the Commission to seek approval and to move forward.   

 

 

Attachments:  None 

 

276



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business  

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 

From:   Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro 

Re:   Stormwater Project End of Street, Third Avenue 

 

Background Information: 

Below is an excerpt of an email the Building Official sent to a resident. This was in response to 

questions about this project: 

The large tree that was removed was not an Oak tree, it was a Banyan tree.  Half was on the owner’s 

property and half on town property.  The tree was blocking the drainage swale leading to the river. The 

Town approved the removal of the tree. The property owner paid to have the tree removed. By 

removing the tree this freed up the drainage swale to begin to flow properly. Due to the level of the lot 

prior to the new home construction and the home owner wanting to grade the lot even, in compliance 

with the drainage regulation required by Town Ordinance and Florida Building Code, the swale requires 

a drainage pipe to be installed.  This installation will keep erosion away from the home and protect the 

Town’s property.  The installation of pipe will prevent back up east of that drainage point, due to a lack 

of flow. The modification of the storm swale is the Town’s responsibility, as this is on town property, and 

is a part of our storm water system. By installing the proper pipe and grading the correct elevation, this 

will prevent severe erosion at the end of the street that is Town property.  

The Town’s Civil Engineer reviewed and approved the water retention plan.  The Civil Engineer will 

review and confirm the plan was adhered to, prior to the Building Official issuing a final Certificate of 

Occupancy.  

Two contractors submitted proposals for the project.  Due to the small job size, Brewer indicated they 

could not provide a competitive bid.  The project is too large for public works to manage.  The proposals 

are listed below: 

Ramage Contracting Inc.:   $20,352.10 plus and additional $2,750 for additional services for a total of 

$23,102.10 

Brewer Paving:  $61,922.00 

 

 

 

277



 

 

Recommendation:  

Accept the proposal from Ramage Contracting, Inc. for a $23,102.10. 

 

Attachments:   

Proposal from Ramage Contracting, Inc. and Brewer Paving 

Picture of stormwater ravine 

Engineered draws for project provided by BSE Engineering 

Grading and Drainage Plan for 510 Third Avenue 

278



279



280



281



282



283



Town Commission Meeting  

Section: New Business    

Meeting Date: July 17, 2024  

From: Town Manager, Elizabeth Mascaro    

RE: Consideration to approve Resolution 2024-04 Fee Schedule   

 

Background Information: 

Periodically the Town’s Fee Schedule is reviewed for updates and a new resolution is written. 

 

Recommendation:   

Consider approving Resolution 2024-04 Fee Schedule 

 

Attachments:   

Updated Fee Schedule 

284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-05 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING 

PARTICIPATION IN FDLE’S EDWARD BYRNE 

MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT (JAG) 

PROGRAM FOR PRISONER TRANSPORTATION; 

PROVIDING FOR AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach and the Melbourne Beach Police Department 

have the option to participate in FDLE’s Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) 

for prisoner transportation; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Rule 11D-9, F.A.C., the Town is required to authorize and 

approve its participation in the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) program; 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach desires to authorize 

and approve its participation in the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) 

program for prisoner transportation. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Commission of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach, Florida, that: 

 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and are adopted and incorporated herein. 

 

Section 2. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute the attached approval letter and the 

Clerk is hereby authorized to transmit the attached approval letter to FDLE for participation in the 

Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) program for prisoner transportation. 

 

Section 3. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, 

Brevard County, Florida, at its regular meeting this 17th day of July, 2024. 

 

 

ATTEST:      TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, 

       FLORIDA, a Florida Municipal Corporation 

 

 

______________________________  By: ________________________________ 

Amber Brown       Alison Dennington, Mayor 

Town Clerk 

 

(TOWN SEAL) 

292



       Town Manager Report for July 2024 
 

 

 

1. First completed review of the 2025-202 budget was held on Wednesday, July 3rd. 

2. Update on parking stickers issued:  1351 resident stickers distributed, 31 guest  

    stickers paid for. 

3. Attended Planning & Zoning meeting 

4. Attending BOA meeting for coastal variance 

5. Successful Fourth of July celebration held by the MBVF Association. 

6. Computer Experts meeting 

7.  Met with residents from Surf Avenue to answer questions regarding budget, election 

process etc.. 

8.  Meeting with Orange Data to discuss lien and permit search work. 

9.  Revised Fee Schedule 

10. Several discussion with Town engineer, Building Official and resident on Third 

Avenue. 

11. Met with department head to discuss annual reviews. 

12. Congratulations to Town Clerk Amber Brown, who received her Certified Municipal 

Clerks designation! 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

293



July 2024 TASK LIST 

 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Lifeguard coverage 3/15/2023 6/19/2024 6/19/2024 Wyatt Hoover  

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

6/19/2024 Considered lifeguard contract for 2024-2025. Failed for a lack of motion. 

5/15/2024 Next month 

4/17/2024 Town Manager – On hold for now. Bring it back next month as an agenda item. 

9/21/2023 Fire Chief – Presented the different options and costs.  Continue with BCOR for the next fiscal year then 

reassess. 

7/12/2023 Create a staffing plan, budget, equipment list, and all other details to bring a lifeguard program in-house.  

What would Ocean Park parking fees need to increase to in order to cover the cost. 

6/28/2023 Town Manager – Met with County Manager, waiting on the County Commission.  

Corey Runte – Asked to look into the cost of having our own lifeguard program. 

5/17/2023 Town Manager – Fire Chief Gavin Brown is the liaison for this.  Right now the Brevard County Commission is 

looking into it 

3/15/2023 Added to Action Items – Fact finding related to funding from other municipalities, open a dialogue with 

Indialantic, reach out to US Lifesaving Association and Florida Beach Patrol to see what other heavy-traffic 

beaches are doing, make sure flag signs are up to date, options and costs to get a lifeguard at our beach 

year round. 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Sixth Ave boat ramp 

improvements 

8/17/2022 12/18/2024  Commissioner 

Runte  

Town Manager/ PW Director 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

6/19/2024 Push to December after hurricane season. 

294



July 2024 TASK LIST 

 

3/20/2024 Corey Runte- Pushed for 3 months 

8/16/2023 At the workshop next week. 

7/19/2023 Mayor – Neighboring property put in a taller dock that is getting destroyed, so if the Town put in a small 

dock it would not last long 

6/28/2023 Look into grant opportunities 

3/15/2023 Put on the Town Commission Workshop 

2/15/2023 Tom Davis- met with Bowman Engineering at Sixth Ave boat ramp to get them to draw something up 

1/18/2023 Tom Davis – installed the geogrid and painted the wall, considering installing a kayak rack 

Commissioner Corey Runte – come up with future vision plans and get concept drawings/proposals to 

beautify it and address parking 

11/16/2022 Joyce Barton – Spoke about possible grant options 

Corey Runte – Research funding options 

Mayor Hoover – Start with fixing the seawall 

9/21/2022 Discussed under new business agenda item D. 

8/17/2022 Research what the exact issue is with parking that prevents the Town from getting grant money  

 

 

295


	1 Agenda Packet Cover Page.pdf (p.1)
	2 Table of Contents.pdf (p.2)
	240717 RTCM Agenda.pdf (p.3-5)
	5 A 240619 RTCM Action Minutes.pdf (p.6-12)
	5 B 240306 TCW Minutes.pdf (p.13-21)
	5 C 240221 RTCM Minutes.pdf (p.22-40)
	5 D 506 Third Ave Packet for PZ and Commission.pdf (p.41-94)
	0647_001
	0648_001
	0649_001
	0650_001

	7 A June FY24 Finance Memo.pdf (p.95)
	7 B June FY24 REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE.pdf (p.96-109)
	REVENUEANDEXPENDITURE

	7 C June FY24 Parking Revenue Comparison.pdf (p.110)
	Sheet1

	8 A Parks Board General Report July 2024.pdf (p.111-112)
	8 B Public Works Activities JUNE 24.pdf (p.113-114)
	8 C 1 2024_06 Building Department Report.pdf (p.115)
	8 C 2 Monthly Permit List.pdf (p.116-121)
	8 C 3 Permit List.pdf (p.122-123)
	8 C 4 Inspection Totals.pdf (p.124-125)
	8 D 1 Active Registered Vacation Rental List 07112024.pdf (p.126)
	8 D 2 Open Enforcement List JUN24.pdf (p.127)
	8 D 3 Closed Enforcement List JUN24.pdf (p.128)
	8 E 1 FD Report 6-2024.pdf (p.129-130)
	8 E 2 Incident Address June 2024.pdf (p.131)
	8 E 3 Personnel Count June 2024.pdf (p.132)
	8 F PD 1 JUNE 2024.pdf (p.133-134)
	8 G Dept Reports Town Clerk Report.pdf (p.135)
	10 A 1 Shed 1 Utility Shed Ordinance 3-2024.pdf (p.136)
	10 A 2 2024-01 Shed Ordinance.pdf (p.137-139)
	10 A 3 Business Impact Statement for Ordinance 2024-01 Utility Sheds.pdf (p.140-141)
	11 A 1 Riverside Proposal for Paving and Curb Work.pdf (p.142)
	11 A 2 Support Document Riverside Paving and Curb Replacement.pdf (p.143-246)
	11 B 1 Camping 1 Camping Ordinance Cover.pdf (p.247)
	11 B 2 Camping Ordinance.pdf (p.248-249)
	12 A 1 Agenda Item Cover for Inter Local Agreement for Stormwater Utility Assessment Roll.pdf (p.250)
	12 A 2 Melbourne Beach Stormwater Interlocal Agreement - Draft Revisions.pdf (p.251-255)
	12 B 1 Agenda Item Cover for Resolution 2024-03.pdf (p.256)
	12 B 2 Resolution 2024-03 Stormwater.pdf (p.257)
	12 B 3 Exhibit A - Resolution 659.pdf (p.258-266)
	12 C 1 HELPER Act Endorsement Cover page.pdf (p.267)
	12 C 2 Sign-On Letter for HELPER Act Markup.pdf (p.268)
	12 C 3 HELPER Markup Letter (Elected Officials).pdf (p.269-270)
	12 D 1 South Beaches Coalition Interlocal Agreement Cover page.pdf (p.271)
	12 D 2 South Beaches Interlocal Agreement.pdf (p.272-281)
	12 E 1 Agenda Item Cover Page Cameras.pdf (p.282)
	12 F 1 Storm water Erosion Project, Third Avenue.pdf (p.283-284)
	12 F 2 Picture of Ravine, Proposals.pdf (p.285-287)
	12 F 3 Engineering and Grading and Drainage Plan.pdf (p.288-289)
	12 G 1 Fee Schedule Cover Page.pdf (p.290)
	12 G 2 Final Fee Schedule 2024-04.pdf (p.291-297)
	12 H Resolution 2024-05 FDLE Grant.pdf (p.298)
	13 B 2024 July  Town Manager Memo.pdf (p.299)
	Task List.pdf (p.300-301)

